Witter, Alexandra R. <u>Extracellular Superoxide Dismutase Indirectly Enhances the</u> <u>Release of Immature Neutrophils from the Murine Bone Marrow.</u> Doctor of Philosophy (Biomedical Sciences), July 2016, 90 pp., 13 figures, references, 146 titles.

Extracellular superoxide dismutase (ecSOD) regulates extracellular concentrations of reactive oxygen species (ROS) to protect tissues during infection and inflammation. Using ecSOD HI, ecSOD WT, and ecSOD KO mice, we have previously shown that ecSOD activity enhances neutrophil recruitment to the liver, yet inhibits the innate immune response against *Listeria monocytogenes* leading to increased host susceptibility. Using adoptive transfer experiments, we observed that ecSOD activity does not affect neutrophil recruitment or function in a cell-intrinsic manner. Additionally, we noted that ecSOD activity results in decreased retention of immature neutrophils in the bone marrow without altering granulopoiesis. Furthermore, we determined that ecSOD activity protects the extracellular matrix (ECM) and increases concentrations of neutrophil-attracting chemokines leading to an increase in immature neutrophils in the liver.

Since ecSOD can be produced by cells from the hematopoietic lineage as well as nonhematopoietic cells, we used bone marrow chimeric mice to investigate the relative contribution of ecSOD produced by cells from each lineage. Ultimately, it was determined that ecSOD from both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic cells contributes to the overall phenotype observed in ecSOD congenic mice. Collectively, our data suggest that ecSOD activity inhibits degradation of the ECM and promotes egress of immature neutrophils out of the bone marrow and into the liver where they provide inadequate protection against *L. monocytogenes*. These studies highlight the potential therapeutic value of ecSOD inhibitors to enhance immune responses during bacterial infections.

Extracellular Superoxide Dismutase Indirectly Enhances the Release of Immature Neutrophils from the Murine Bone Marrow

Dissertation

Presented to the Graduate Council of the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences University of North Texas Health Science Center in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

By

Alexandra R. Witter, B.S. Fort Worth, TX July 2016

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The following dissertation is a result of my 5 year journey towards a Ph.D., and I could not have reached this point without the incredible support of many people.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my mentor, Dr. Rance Berg for his unwavering support and good humor. Without his guidance, knowledge, constant encouragement for me to improve, and excellent mentorship, I would not have made it this far.

Further thanks goes out to my wonderful labmates, past and present. To Tim and Mohana, who took me in and taught me how to work in the lab, I will be forever grateful for their friendship and teaching. And to Busola and Naomi, valued friends and colleagues, who challenged me to be a better teacher, and rescued me from lonely days in the lab.

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Lisa Hodge, Dr. Mark Mummert, Dr. Porunelloor Mathew, and Dr. Khalid Timani, for their valuable time and advice.

Thank you to all my friends, near and far, for their support. Special thanks are due to Mohana and Ashley for their company at lunch, their words of wisdom, their sympathy, and their constant encouragement. Also, heartfelt appreciation to Catherine and Annie, who kept me laughing and sent their love from halfway across the country.

Finally, to my family, there are no words to express the depth of my gratitude for your unflinching love and support, I am truly blessed. To my Aunt, Dr. Beth Rene Roepnack, who showed me the strength and determination it takes to earn a doctorate. To my Dad, who taught me endless patience and respect for others. To my Mom, who offered daily support and love and always asked if I was taking care of myself. And to my "little" brother, who provides me constant inspiration to relentlessly pursue my goals in life.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS v
INTRODUCTION 1
Specific Aims 1
Specific Aim I: How does ecSOD activity reduce neutrophil activity in the liver?
Specific Aim II: Does ecSOD activity alter neutrophil development in the bone marrow? 2
Specific Aim III: Does ecSOD produced by hematopoietic cells or non-hematopoietic cells play a role in mediating differences in neutrophil responses?
Extracellular Superoxide Dismutase
Neutrophils
Listeria monocytogenes7
Neutrophils and Listeria monocytogenes infection
ecSOD, Neutrophils and L. monocytogenes
Significance
MATERIALS AND METHODS
Mice
L. monocytogenes infections
Organ processing and tissue culture
In vitro infection with L. monocytogenes
Flow cytometry based assays
Neutrophil transfer
Granulopoiesis assay
Quantification of G-CSF and CXCL12
Bone Marrow Chimera generation
Statistical Analyses
ECSOD ACTIVITY INHIBITS NEUTROPHIL FUNCTION IN THE MURINE LIVER
ecSOD activity leads to decreased shedding of L-selectin by liver neutrophils

ecSOD activity does not permanently alter the ability of neutrophils to protect against <i>L. monocytogenes</i> infection
Summary
ECSOD PROMOTES EGRESS OF IMMATURE MURINE BONE MARROW NEUTROPHILS
ecSOD activity leads to increased immature neutrophils in the bone marrow and blood 38
ecSOD activity leads to decreased production of G-CSF in the bone marrow
ecSOD activity does not alter potential for granulopoiesis
ecSOD activity does not alter chemokine receptor expression on bone marrow neutrophils 40
ecSOD activity leads to decreased CXCL12 in the bone marrow
ecSOD activity decreases oxidative burst and phagocytosis by bone marrow neutrophils 41
Summary
ECSOD PRODUCED BY BOTH HEMATOPOIETIC AND NON-HEMATOPOIETIC CELLS CONTRIBUTE TO DIFFERENCES IN NEUTROPHIL RECRUITMENT AND FUNCTION 51
Absence of ecSOD in either hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells leads to increased <i>L. monocytogenes</i> clearance and decreased neutrophil recruitment
Enhanced ecSOD activity reveals divergent roles for ecSOD produced by either hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells
Summary
DISCUSSION
Chapter III
Chapter IV
Chapter V
Conclusions
REFERENCES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Neutrophil recruitment and function during <i>L. monocytogenes</i> infection
Figure 2. ecSOD activity leads to decreased shedding of L-selectin by liver neutrophils 36
Figure 3. ecSOD activity does not permanently alter the ability of neutrophils to protect
against <i>L. monocytogenes</i> infection
Figure 4. ecSOD activity leads to increased immature neutrophils in the bone marrow 43
Figure 5. ecSOD activity leads to increased immature neutrophils in the bone marrow and
blood
Figure 6. ecSOD activity leads to decreased production of G-CSF in the bone marrow 45
Figure 7. ecSOD activity does not alter potential for granulopoiesis
Figure 8. ecSOD activity does not alter chemokine receptor expression on bone marrow
neutrophils
Figure 9. ecSOD activity leads to decreased CXCL12 in the bone marrow
Figure 10. ecSOD activity decreases oxidative burst by bone marrow neutrophils
Figure 11. ecSOD activity decreases phagocytosis by bone marrow neutrophils 50
Figure 12. Absence of ecSOD in either hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells leads to
increased L. monocytogenes clearance and decreased neutrophil recruitment
Figure 13. Enhanced ecSOD activity reveals divergent roles for ecSOD produced by either
hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Name	Abbreviation
Analysis of Variance	ANOVA
Bone marrow chimeric	BMC
Brain-heart infusion	BHI
Colony-forming unit	CFU
Dulbecco's modified eagle medium	DMEM
Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay	ELISA
Extracellular matrix	ECM
Extracellular superoxide dismutase	ecSOD
Fetal calf serum/fetal bovine serum	FCS/FBS
Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor	G-CSF
Hank's balanced salt solution	HBSS
Heat-killed Listeria monocytogenes	HKLM
Hyaluronic acid	HA
Interleukin	IL
Intravenous	i.v.
Mean fluorescence intensity	MFI
Myeloperoxidase	MPO
Neutrophil extracellular trap	NET
Phosphate-buffered saline	PBS

Post-infection	p.i.
Reactive nitrogen species	RNS
Reactive oxygen species	ROS
Red blood cell	RBC
Tumor necrosis factor	TNF

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Specific Aims

Antioxidants have become a buzzword in both medicine and in the popular media, however the implications of antioxidants, particularly their effects on the immune system, are incompletely understood. The role of extracellular superoxide dismutase (ecSOD), an antioxidant enzyme important in the regulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), has not been thoroughly investigated in the context of immune responses during bacterial infection. In particular, the potential effects of this antioxidant enzyme on immune cell development and recruitment out of the bone marrow require further investigation. While it has been previously shown that ecSOD activity leads to increased neutrophil recruitment and decreased neutrophil function, the mechanisms behind these differences are unclear and the effect of ecSOD activity on neutrophil maturation in the bone marrow has not been studied. We hypothesize that parenchymal cells produce ecSOD which reduces neutrophil retention in the bone marrow and protects the extracellular matrix from degradation leading to increased egress of immature neutrophils from the bone marrow. Furthermore, this enhances recruitment of immature neutrophils to the liver where they are unable to protect against *Listeria monocytogenes*.

Specific Aim I: How does ecSOD activity reduce neutrophil activity in the liver?

It has been shown that neutrophils are essential for protection against *L. monocytogenes* infection in the liver (1). It has also been published that ecSOD activity leads to increased recruitment of neutrophils to the liver, however these neutrophils are unable to provide sufficient protection during *L. monocytogenes* infection (2). Furthermore, depletion of neutrophils in ecSOD congenic mice leads to increased susceptibility to *L. monocytogenes* infection in ecSOD WT and ecSOD KO mice but decreased susceptibility in ecSOD HI mice (2). We hypothesize that ecSOD activity leads to increased presence of phenotypically and functionally immature neutrophils in the liver. To determine if ecSOD activity alters neutrophil maturity, expression levels of L-selectin (CD62L) on neutrophils from ecSOD congenic mice will be analyzed in the absence of infection and at day one post-infection (d1p.i.). Since ecSOD is an antioxidant enzyme and neutrophils are important for production of ROS, including superoxide, during bacterial infections, ecSOD activity may be directly inhibiting neutrophil maturity and function. Neutrophil transfer protection studies will be implemented to determine if ecSOD activity is altering neutrophil function in a cell-intrinsic manner.

Specific Aim II: Does ecSOD activity alter neutrophil development in the bone marrow?

Neutrophils are generated by granulopoiesis in the bone marrow and develop into mature neutrophils that are essential for protection against bacterial infections (3). The increased presence of phenotypically and functionally immature neutrophils in the liver of ecSOD HI mice suggests potential defects in neutrophil development or generation. To evaluate neutrophil development, bone marrow neutrophils will be analyzed for maturity by expression of c-kit, a marker for granulocyte precursor cells. Since G-CSF is important for neutrophil development and generation, this could lead to differences in neutrophil granulopoiesis (4). In order to

determine if there are differences in granulopoiesis in the congenic ecSOD mice, granulopoiesis colony assays will be performed. Neutrophils from ecSOD HI mice are unable to protect against *L. monocytogenes* infection in the liver (2). In order to determine if ecSOD also mediates neutrophil function in the bone marrow, experiments to evaluate ROS production, via H₂DCFDA, and phagocytosis, via *in vitro* infections with *L. monocytogenes*-GFP, will be performed. Differences in G-CSF concentrations, as observed in the serum of ecSOD congenic mice (manuscript submitted), may also suggest potential differences in the CXCR4/CXCL12 bone marrow retention axis (5, 6). In order to investigate these differences, flow cytometry analysis of CXCR2 and CXCR4 on bone marrow neutrophils will be determined. In addition, CXCL12 ELISAs will be performed on bone marrow extracellular fluid (ECF) to determine if there are differences between the congenic mice.

Specific Aim III: Does ecSOD produced by hematopoietic cells or non-hematopoietic cells play a role in mediating differences in neutrophil responses?

Since ecSOD is expressed in multiple tissues throughout the body (7) and can be produced by both immune and non-immune cells (8), it is important to determine relative contributions of ecSOD activity from either hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells on both neutrophil recruitment and function. In order to investigate the effects of lack of ecSOD from hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells, as well as the effects of enhanced ecSOD activity from hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells, bone marrow chimeric (BMC) mice will be generated. Once fully reconstituted, these BMC mice will be infected with *L. monocytogenes* and evaluated for differences in bacterial burden and neutrophil recruitment.

Extracellular Superoxide Dismutase

Extracellular superoxide dismutase (ecSOD, SOD3) is an antioxidant enzyme responsible for converting superoxide into hydrogen peroxide in the extracellular milieu and is, therefore, an important antioxidant enzyme for protecting host tissues from damage caused by reactive oxygen and reactive nitrogen species (ROS, RNS) (9). ROS are common byproducts and important components of cellular processes. In addition, during infection, the upregulation of ROS production is essential for efficient clearance of pathogens (10-12). However, since ROS are not targeted against pathogens, they can cause oxidative damage to the host and therefore ROS concentrations must be tightly regulated (11). Enzymes such as ecSOD play an important role in regulating ROS concentrations to find the appropriate balance between normal cellular functions, pathogen killing, and tissue damage.

There are three members of the superoxide family, however, SOD1 and SOD2 are present within cells, with SOD1 found in cytosplasm, nuclear compartments, and lysosomes, and SOD2 found in mitochondria, making ecSOD (SOD3) the only extracellular member of the family (8). ecSOD has a heparin sulfate binding domain which enables it to bind to the ECM and maintain its localization within tissues (7, 9). ecSOD is expressed in multiple tissues throughout the body including the heart, lungs, kidneys and liver (7) and ecSOD can be produced by both immune and non-immune cells (8), which is important since this enzyme plays important roles in homeostatic regulation of ROS as well as during inflammatory diseases (7). Importantly, one of the ways ecSOD reduces inflammation is by protecting the extracellular matrix (ECM) from degradation (13-15).

ecSOD has been shown to be protective in multiple disease models, particularly during non-infectious inflammatory lung injury models, and its activity leads to decreased neutrophil recruitment to the lungs (16-21). The protective effects of ecSOD during disease models, and the

correlation between increased pathology and decreased ecSOD levels (22), has led to suggestions of using ecSOD as a therapy for oxidative stress-induced disease (7, 23).

Neutrophils

Neutrophils are one of the first responding cells during inflammation or infection. They are classic phagocytic cells, able to take up and kill pathogens by releasing degrading enzymes from their granules and producing both ROS and RNS. Neutrophils are also well known for their ability to enhance the immune response by production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, particularly TNF- α . Recently, they have been shown to expunge DNA and other intracellular molecules to form neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) that are effective in consolidating the spread of pathogens (24).

"Neutrophils are hematopoietic-derived immune cells that are generated, and continue to develop, in the bone marrow until recruited into circulation and then to sites of infection or inflammation. Steady-state neutrophil granulopoiesis is modulated by common stem cell cytokines, such as IL-3 and IL-6, as well as granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) and granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF). Under infectious or inflammatory conditions, neutrophil granulopoiesis can be increased, typically termed "emergency granulopoiesis", in order to restore homeostasis in the bone marrow after recruitment of neutrophils to peripheral sites (25). While IL-3, IL-6, G-CSF and GM-CSF have all been shown to contribute to emergency granulopoiesis, it has also been demonstrated that the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by bone marrow myeloid cells is critical for this process during infection (26)." (27).

Once a granulocyte precursor has differentiated into a neutrophil, it exists in a bone marrow niche with non-hematopoietic bone marrow cells that express membrane-bound stem

cell factor and CXCL12 (SDF-1), the ligands for c-kit and CXCR4, respectively. Neutrophils that express high c-kit, CXCR4, or both, are considered immature and are retained in the bone marrow by binding their respective ligands (28). CXCR4 is gradually reduced as neutrophils mature, correlating with the gradual increase of CXCR2, the receptor for neutrophil-attracting chemokines such as CXCL1 and CXCL2, which leads to the release of mature neutrophils from the bone marrow. Neutrophil progenitors upregulate expression of Ly6G as they differentiate, and neutrophils increase expression of CD11b as they mature and prepare to exit the bone marrow (3).

Neutrophil recruitment from the bone marrow may also be induced by damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPS) that can be host-derived as well as pathogen-derived (29). Under basal conditions, G-CSF may also play an essential role in mobilization of neutrophils out of the bone marrow, likely by decreasing concentrations of CXCL12 (5). It has also been shown that in a sepsis model, inhibition of CXCL12 actually prevented the release of neutrophils from the bone marrow, though this contrasts with much of the established literature for other models (30).

L-selectin (CD62L, Mel14) is present on immature neutrophils but is shed from neutrophils as they mature and traffic to peripheral sites (31). In addition, expression of both CD11b and CD18 adhesion molecules is increased on mature neutrophils as these molecules are essential for efficient neutrophil rolling and diapedesis. Neutrophils also express CD44 which is often used as a marker for neutrophil activation but, more importantly, CD44 binds to the ECM, specifically hyaluronic acid (HA), in order for neutrophils to traffic and extravasate into the liver (32-35).

"Neutrophils that traffic into tissues in the absence of infection or inflammation commonly become apoptotic rather than returning to circulation. It has been shown that these neutrophils are phagocytosed by resident macrophages and dendritic cells in the liver, which could potentially induce a feedback loop that decreases further granulopoiesis (36). Alternately, the chemokine receptor CXCR4 is upregulated as circulating neutrophils age, leading to trafficking back to the bone marrow where they are ingested by macrophages (3, 37, 38). Although neutrophil production is constitutive during homeostasis, an enhanced neutrophil response is often essential for host survival." (27).

Listeria monocytogenes

"Listeria monocytogenes is a gram-positive bacterium with a primarily intracellular life cycle after infection of a host organism. *L. monocytogenes* infection occurs following ingestion of contaminated foods and is the third leading cause of death among foodborne pathogens (39). Immunocompromised individuals, pregnant women and newborns are particularly susceptible to infection which can result in septicemia, meningitis, and loss of fetus. While foci of infection are generally established in the spleen and liver, *L. monocytogenes* can travel through the circulation to the heart, the brain, and to the bone marrow (40-42).

L. monocytogenes is able to cross the intestinal wall by binding to E-cadherin with one of its virulence factors, Internalin A. From the intestine, *L. monocytogenes* disseminates through the lymphatics and the bloodstream to the spleen and liver, where it can enter target cells via phagocytosis or induced endocytosis. In the liver, one of the primary target cells for infection are hepatocytes, which are initially directly infected through utilization of the virulence factor Internalin B binding to hepatocyte growth factor receptor (HGFR, Met, c-Met). Once internalized, *L. monocytogenes* is able to escape into the cytosol of host cells by secretion of listeriolysin O (LLO). Cytoplasmic *L. monocytogenes* then replicates and spreads to neighboring cells by polymerizing host actin with the aid of actin-assembly-inducing protein A (ActA) (43,

44). This indirect infection via cell-to-cell spread is effective, particularly in the liver, because it allows *L. monocytogenes* to infect neighboring cells without being exposed to opsonization or recognition and killing by innate immune cells." (27).

Neutrophils and Listeria monocytogenes infection

Adapted from Witter, A.R., Okunnu, B.M., Berg, R.E. The essential role of neutrophils during infection with the intracellular bacterial pathogen *Listeria monocytogenes*. *The Journal of Immunology*. vol. 197, in press, 2016.

"Requirement of neutrophils during L. monocytogenes infection

Initial immune responses against *L. monocytogenes* are managed by innate immune cells, with macrophages, monocytes and neutrophils playing a central role. Early depletion studies using the anti-GR-1 monoclonal antibody (RB6-8C5) concluded that neutrophils are critically important for host defense during *L. monocytogenes* infection (45-51). More recently, it was shown that the anti-GR-1 antibody binds to Ly6G, which is expressed exclusively by neutrophils, and Ly6C, which is expressed by neutrophils, monocytes, subsets of dendritic cells, and subsets of memory CD8+ T cells (51, 52). However, use of the anti-Ly6G monoclonal antibody (1A8) for neutrophil-specific depletion studies has shown that neutrophils are essential for clearance of *L. monocytogenes*, particularly from the liver (1, 53). Our studies have also established that neutrophils are particularly important during high *L. monocytogenes* inoculum, consistent with previous reports indicating that following the administration of a high dose infection, neutrophils ingest *L. monocytogenes* in the liver (1, 50). Another recent report presented data that suggest neutrophils are not required for protection against *L. monocytogenes*.

via intraperitoneal injection of the 1A8 antibody at the time of infection (54). It is possible that after intravenous infection and subsequent rapid arrival of *L. monocytogenes* at the target organs, neutrophils were still present and contributed to early bacterial uptake and killing. Further highlighting the importance of neutrophils, mice lacking G-CSF, or its receptor, display severe neutropenia and are more susceptible to *L. monocytogenes* infection than wild-type mice (55, 56). Additionally, an increased presence of neutrophils in peripheral organs, resulting in increased resistance against *L. monocytogenes*, was observed in mice deficient in B7-H4, a molecule which inhibits growth of neutrophil progenitors (57). Another study showed that over-activation of the innate immune response, by high-dose *L. monocytogenes* infection or pre-activation with either heat killed *L. monocytogenes* or synthetic TLR2-ligand followed by low-dose *L. monocytogenes* infection, led to significant neutrophil apoptosis in the bone marrow and a subsequent increase in host susceptibility (58).

Besides neutrophils, other phagocytic cells have well-established roles during *L. monocytogenes* infection. Depletion of splenic and liver macrophages during *L. monocytogenes* infection results in increased mortality and bacterial burden (59, 60). Tissue macrophages are also involved in the production of TNF- α and IL-12 in response to recognition of *L. monocytogenes* (61, 62). Inflammatory monocytes have been shown to respond to *L. monocytogenes* by producing IL-12 and IL-15 (63). Additional studies identified a differentiated population of CCR2+ inflammatory monocytes, also termed Tip-DCs, which produce both TNF- α and iNOS (inducible nitric oxide synthase) and are essential for clearance of *L. monocytogenes* infection (64). Ultimately, the production of innate cytokines from macrophages and inflammatory monocytes induces the production of IFN- γ from multiple cell types, leading to increased macrophage phagocytosis and killing of the bacteria (62, 65). The complex interplay

between tissue resident and recruited phagocytic cells is critical for protection of the host against *L. monocytogenes*.

Neutrophil recruitment during L. monocytogenes infection

Neutrophil release from bone marrow

During homeostasis, neutrophils are retained in the bone marrow by the interaction of CXCR4 with its ligand CXCL12 (SDF-1), which is expressed by non-hematopoietic bone marrow cells. Following *L. monocytogenes* infection, neutrophils are rapidly recruited out of the bone marrow primarily due to the downregulation of CXCR4 followed by the upregulation of CXCR2, the receptor for neutrophil-attracting chemokines such as CXCL1 (KC) and CXCL2 (MIP-2 α) (66, 67). Myeloid-lineage specific loss of CXCR4 was shown to lead to premature release of neutrophils from the bone marrow into the blood during basal conditions but also contributed to an impaired release of neutrophils in response to G-CSF, CXCL2 or *L. monocytogenes* infection (66). This suggests that during *L. monocytogenes* infection CXCR4 is essential for regulating neutrophil release from the bone marrow. Under basal conditions, G-CSF may also play an essential role in mobilization of neutrophils out of the bone marrow, likely by decreasing concentrations of CXCL12 (5).

Neutrophil recruitment from the bone marrow may also be induced during infection or inflammation by host-derived damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) as well as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (29, 68). There are no current studies illustrating *L. monocytogenes*-specific PAMPs that can induce neutrophil release or the role of CXCL1, CXCL2 or CXCL12 in the bone marrow during infection. However, one could speculate that increased concentrations of G-CSF induced by *L. monocytogenes* infection would

lead to decreased concentrations of CXCL12 followed by a downregulation in neutrophil CXCR4 expression and enhanced release of neutrophils from the bone marrow into circulation.

Neutrophil extravasation into tissue

During *L. monocytogenes* infection, neutrophils that are released from the bone marrow are subsequently recruited to infected organs, primarily the liver. Efficient neutrophil chemotaxis is dependent on chemoattractant molecules that induce signaling pathways leading to the rearrangement of intracellular structural molecules and upregulation of surface adhesion molecules. Formylated peptide receptors (FPRs) are highly expressed on neutrophils and can bind *L. monocytogenes*-derived formylated peptides (such as fMIVIL) resulting in a signaling cascade that induces neutrophil migration (69). Accordingly, mice deficient in FPR1, FPR2 or both, are more susceptible to *L. monocytogenes* infection and have delayed recruitment of neutrophils to the liver (69-71). This occurs in the absence of differences in concentrations of common neutrophil-attracting chemokines, suggesting that FPRs are responsible for initial chemotactic signals to recruit neutrophils into the liver during *L. monocytogenes* infection (70, 71).

The neutrophil-attracting chemokines CXCL1 and CXCL2 are produced in the liver following *L. monocytogenes* infection (67). Treatment with anti-CXCL2 (anti-MIP-2) antibody decreases neutrophil recruitment to the liver after *L. monocytogenes* infection in wild-type mice and antibody blockade of CXCR2 completely ablated efficient neutrophil recruitment (67). Conversely, mice deficient in the murine IL-8 receptor homolog (CXCR2) have previously been shown to be more resistant to acute *L. monocytogenes* infection (72). However, this increased resistance to infection is likely attributed to the extreme neutrophilia observed in these mice (73, 74). Mice lacking the type I interferon receptor (IFNAR) show increased neutrophil recruitment

to sites of infection and increased resistance to *L. monocytogenes* infection compared to wildtype mice. Pharmacological inhibition of CXCR2 in IFNAR deficient mice reversed both the enhanced neutrophil recruitment and the increased resistance to infection (75). Collectively, these data suggest that FPRs are required for initial extravasation into the liver with subsequent chemokine receptor signaling implicated in neutrophil recruitment to the site of *L. monocytogenes* infection within the tissue.

Mature neutrophils upregulate expression of adhesion molecules resulting in efficient extravasation into tissues. Specific adhesion molecules expressed on neutrophils include LFA-1 (CD11a/CD18) and Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18, CR3) (76). Interestingly, CD18 KO mice (deficient for LFA-1 and Mac-1) display increased resistance to L. monocytogenes infection, probably due to increased presence of neutrophils in the periphery caused by increased concentrations of G-CSF (77). Similarly, mice deficient in CD11a (LFA-1) are more resistant to L. monocytogenes infection, have increased infiltration of neutrophils into the liver, and increased concentrations of both G-CSF and IL-17. Furthermore, neutrophil depletion (using the GR-1 antibody) in LFA-1 deficient mice abrogated the increased resistance to L. monocytogenes (78). Conversely, antibody blockade of CD11b (Mac-1) results in a reduction of neutrophil recruitment to the site of L. monocytogenes infection in the liver and decreased resistance to L. monocytogenes infection (59, 79). Collectively, these data suggest that LFA-1 expression restricts neutrophil recruitment to sites of infection leading to increased bacterial burden, while Mac-1, particularly the CD11b component, is essential for neutrophil recruitment and control of L. monocytogenes infection.

Indirect regulation of neutrophil chemotaxis

During *L. monocytogenes* infection, IL-23 regulates the production of IL-17A and IL-17F from $\gamma\delta$ T cells, resulting in optimal liver neutrophil recruitment and enhanced bacterial clearance presumably due to increased chemokine production. Mice lacking IL-23p19, IL-17A, or IL-17RA have increased bacterial burdens in the liver, which corresponds with decreased neutrophil recruitment (80, 81). One study showed that increased concentrations of CCL8 (MCP-2) led to an influx of IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells in mice conditionally knocked out for B lymphocyte-induced maturation protein-1 (BLIMP1) in macrophages. This resulted in a subsequent enhancement of neutrophil recruitment to sites of infection and increased clearance of *L. monocytogenes* (82). These studies demonstrate the importance of chemokine regulation in effective neutrophil recruitment and ultimately, clearance of bacteria.

Other cytokines that have been suggested to be important during *L. monocytogenes* infection, likely through indirect effects on neutrophils, include IL-1 and IL-6. IL-1 α and IL-1 β are produced in the liver and spleen after *L. monocytogenes* infection and exogenous IL-1 α has been shown to increase neutrophil recruitment to sites of infection and decrease bacterial burden (83-86). Blocking the type 1 IL-1 receptor (IL-1R), which binds both IL-1 α and IL-1 β , leads to increased susceptibility to *L. monocytogenes* (87). Interestingly, IL-1 β deficient mice show no difference in susceptibility to *L. monocytogenes*, suggesting a more central role for IL-1 α (88). Studies performing IL-1 depletion in SCID mice show increased susceptibility to *L. monocytogenes* compared to untreated SCID mice, suggesting the mechanism of IL-1 protection is not mediated by T cells (89). However, further studies are required to determine how IL-1 α mediates its protective effects, particularly in relation to neutrophils, during *L. monocytogenes* infection. Mice deficient for IL-6 are more susceptible to *L. monocytogenes* infection with increased bacterial burden in both the spleen and liver and deficient neutrophil recruitment into the blood compared to wild-type mice (90, 91). Addition of rIL-6 to wild-type mice was able to provide enhanced protection against *L. monocytogenes*. Use of the anti-GR-1 antibody for depletion, though not specific for neutrophils, eliminated the IL-6 induced protective effect, suggesting IL-6 can directly or indirectly enhance recruitment, and possibly function, of neutrophils (90). Interestingly, in IL-6 KO mice no differences were observed in NK cell or macrophage activation and there was no difference in IFN- γ production during *L. monocytogenes* infection, further highlighting the potential link between IL-6 and neutrophils (90). Although it has been shown that classical IL-6 signaling, rather than IL-6 trans-signaling, is required for protection against *L. monocytogenes*, the cells responsible for producing and responding to IL-6 during infection are not known (92).

Extracellular superoxide dismutase (ecSOD) is the enzyme responsible for regulating extracellular concentrations of ROS and protecting host tissues during inflammation. Our lab has shown that ecSOD activity results in increased neutrophil recruitment to the liver during *L. monocytogenes* infection, possibly facilitated by the enzyme's ability to protect the extracellular matrix from degradation leading to enhanced neutrophil trafficking. However, the increased number of neutrophils did not correlate with protection during infection, as mice with high ecSOD activity are more susceptible to *L. monocytogenes* than mice with wild-type ecSOD activity or mice deficient in ecSOD. Furthermore, in mice with high ecSOD activity, neutrophils did not effectively co-localize with bacterial lesions in the liver, suggesting not only chemotactic, but potentially functional defects (2). Ultimately, rapid recruitment out of the bone marrow and

efficient chemotaxis to sites of infection are essential preludes to neutrophil function and clearance of *L. monocytogenes* infection.

Neutrophil function during L. monocytogenes infection

Neutrophil phagocytosis and containment of bacteria

Upon recruitment to foci of infection, particularly within the liver, neutrophils recognize and phagocytose *L. monocytogenes*. Specific receptors, including the complement receptor of the immunoglobulin superfamily (CRIg), have been shown to be required for macrophage phagocytosis of *L. monocytogenes* (93); however, the receptors and ligands that induce phagocytosis by neutrophils are currently unknown. The majority of bacteria recovered from the liver immediately following high-dose intravenous infection with *L. monocytogenes* are presumed to be extracellular and many are associated with hepatocytes. However, the rapid influx of neutrophils to the liver during the first 6 hours post-infection leads to a significant reduction in the bacterial burden. In addition, depletion using the anti-GR-1 antibody prior to infection, though not specific for neutrophils, led to markedly increased hepatocyte damage and increased bacterial burden (50). Collectively, these data suggest that early phagocytosis of *L. monocytogenes* by incoming neutrophils is essential for protection of the liver against infection.

Neutrophil phagocytosis of bacteria may not necessarily result in bacterial killing but may instead limit the spread of *L. monocytogenes*. The bacteria-filled neutrophils could then be phagocytosed by macrophages, ultimately killing the bacteria. One study demonstrated the presence of *L. monocytogenes* inside liver neutrophils that were located inside Kupffer cells (59). Furthermore, the Mac-1 receptor on neutrophils can bind to ICAM-1 (CD54) on the surface of macrophages and potentially facilitate phagocytosis of infected neutrophils by Kupffer cells. It

has been shown that inhibition of either CD11b (Mac-1) or ICAM-1 resulted in a reduced clearance of *L. monocytogenes* in the liver, although this could be related to altered recruitment in addition to blockade of neutrophil-macrophage interactions (59). Therefore, one could speculate that the contribution of neutrophils to protection against *L. monocytogenes* infection is purely related to bacterial containment.

Neutrophils produce matrix metalloproteinase-8 (MMP8) and store it in granules until bacterial sensing induces degranulation at sites of phagocytosis allowing MMP8 to be taken into the phagosome with *L. monocytogenes* where it was shown to degrade LLO. It was further proposed that this leads to bacterial containment by preventing *L. monocytogenes* escape from the phagosome. These *in vitro* studies showed that inhibition of neutrophil degranulation led to increased cell damage and inhibition of proteases led to decreased LLO degradation and increased intracellular neutrophil bacterial burden, supporting a potential role for MMP8 and other granule contents in protecting the host against *L. monocytogenes* infection (94).

Neutrophil production of ROS

Direct sensing of *L. monocytogenes* by murine neutrophils is thought to be mediated primarily by formylated peptides binding to the receptor FPR1 on neutrophils, which induces a signaling cascade leading to calcium efflux and subsequent superoxide (O_2^{-}) and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) production (69). Lack of FPR1 results in increased bacterial burden and decreased production of O_2^{-} and H_2O_2 by neutrophils (70). Regulation of calcium entry is an important factor in neutrophil function, including production of ROS, and is mediated by molecules such as stromal-interacting molecule 1 (STIM1). Mice deficient in STIM1 have decreased production of ROS and increased susceptibility to *L. monocytogenes* infection (95). Mice deficient for 4-1BB (CD137), a member of the TNF receptor superfamily constitutively

expressed by neutrophils, are more susceptible to *L. monocytogenes* infection than wild-type mice, which correlates with defective calcium mobilization and decreased ROS production from neutrophils (96). Furthermore, pre-treatment of wild-type mice with a 4-1BB agonist antibody led to decreased bacteria burden and increased neutrophil ROS production suggesting a role for TNF receptors in activation of signaling pathways leading to production of ROS during *L. monocytogenes* infection (97).

Neutrophil activation during L. monocytogenes infection induces production of O_2^{-} and H₂O₂, both of which are anti-microbial and thought to be important for bacterial killing. The NADPH oxidase complex assembles on the phagosome in neutrophils and converts molecular oxygen (O_2) into O_2 . (98). The NADPH oxidase complex is comprised of 6 subunits: gp91^{phox} and p22^{phox} are membrane-bound components while p47^{phox}, p67^{phox}, and p40^{phox} are all cytosolic components that assemble with the membrane-bound portion, and either Rac1 or Rac2 GTPases, upon activation of the cell (99). Mice that lack the essential gp91^{phox} component of NADPH oxidase are more susceptible to L. monocytogenes during the early stages of infection (100-102). Interestingly, mice deficient in the p47^{phox} component have equivalent bacterial burden to wildtype mice during *L. monocytogenes* infection (103). Lack of the p47^{phox} subunit may be compensated for by high concentrations of the $p67^{phox}$ subunit, leading to efficient O_2 . production; however, this has not been thoroughly investigated in vivo (104). In addition to ROS production by the NADPH oxidase complex, it has been shown that mitochondria-generated ROS is important for phagocyte-mediated bacterial killing, although L. monocytogenes was not used in this study (105). Furthermore, efficient phagosome localization with the mitochondria, mediated by the Mst1 and Mst2 kinases, is required for optimal induction of ROS downstream of

TLR signaling, and mice lacking both Mst1 and Mst2 show increased susceptibility to *L*. *monocytogenes* compared to wild-type mice (106).

While ROS are potent bactericidal molecules, they can also cause host tissue damage and must therefore be properly regulated. The negative regulator of ROS (NRROS) is a recently described protein important for preventing tissue damage to host organs by limiting phagocytic production of ROS. Increased ROS production, increased resistance to L. monocytogenes infection, and increased tissue damage, were all observed in mice deficient in NRROS (107). The O_2^- generated by NADPH oxidase is converted into H_2O_2 by superoxide dismutases (SODs). In the extracellular milieu, ecSOD catalyzes the conversion of O_2^{-1} to H_2O_2 to protect the host from excessive tissue damage. Our lab has previously shown that during L. monocytogenes infection, mice with high ecSOD activity have increased bacterial burden and neutrophil apoptosis as well as impaired neutrophil-specific production of TNF- α , compared to ecSOD wild-type or ecSOD KO mice. Depletion of neutrophils in mice with high ecSOD activity slightly decreases bacterial burden while neutrophil depletion in ecSOD wild-type or ecSOD KO mice results in increased bacterial burden, suggesting ecSOD activity leads to impaired neutrophil function (2). Though O_2^{-1} and H_2O_2 are produced by activated neutrophils, hypochlorous acid (HOCl) is believed to be a more potent bactericidal ROS molecule (108, 109). Production of HOCl is catalyzed by myeloperoxidase (MPO) in the presence of H₂O₂ and chloride ions. Neutrophil-specific MPO activity against L. monocytogenes has not been determined, though it has been implicated as being important for neutrophil anti-microbial activity against other bacterial pathogens (110).

In addition to ROS, neutrophils can generate reactive nitrogen species (RNS) through the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS or NOS2), an enzyme that converts O_2 to

nitric oxide (NO[•]). NOS2 deficient mice were found to be more susceptible to *L. monocytogenes* infection than wild-type mice (101, 111). Conversely, a more recent study showed that pharmacologic inhibition of NOS2 resulted in decreased bacteria burden in the liver after infection with *L. monocytogenes* (112). Why different approaches to eliminating NOS2 function resulted in different outcomes, and importantly, whether or not NOS2 is required for neutrophil killing *in vivo* during *L. monocytogenes* infection still needs to be resolved. Peroxynitrite (NO₃^{-•}), a ROS molecule produced by a reaction between $O_2^{-•}$ and NO[•], is also thought to have very potent bactericidal activities, including the ability to kill *L. monocytogenes in vitro* (113). However, these activities have not yet been identified as neutrophil specific, nor have they been shown to be required for killing *in vivo*.

Neutrophil production of cytokines

Neutrophil activation induced by *L. monocytogenes* infection also results in the production of several cytokines that have been deemed important for resistance to bacterial infection. Generally, recognition of microbial products by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) initiates signaling pathways through adaptor molecules leading to activation of the NF-κB transcription factor and ultimately, production of cytokines.

It has been shown that mice lacking MyD88 (a TLR adaptor protein) are very susceptible to *L. monocytogenes* infection, have reduced production of IL-6, IL-12, IL-18, IFN- γ and TNF- α and decreased neutrophil recruitment to the spleen (61, 114). Mice with MyD88 expression exclusive to dendritic cells responded comparably to wild-type mice during infection with *L. monocytogenes* (115). These data suggest that MyD88 is required in dendritic cells for optimal responses to *L. monocytogenes* but neutrophil recruitment and function are independent of MyD88 signaling.

While TLRs are responsible for recognizing a wide array of extracellular or vesicular pathogens, Nod-like receptors (NLRs) are positioned in the cytosol in order to recognize PAMPs expressed by pathogens that escape the phagosome. Mice deficient in NOD1 have increased bacterial burden during L. monocytogenes infection which correlates with a decrease in neutrophil recruitment. However, it was determined that NOD1 signaling was essential in nonhematopoietic, but not hematopoietic cells, during infection (116). Furthermore, neutrophils from RIP2 KO mice, which cannot signal through NOD1 or NOD2, did not display altered production of IL-6, TNF- α , CXCL1 or CXCL2 in response to L. monocytogenes infection, as compared to neutrophils from wild-type mice (117). This suggests that NLR signaling may be a redundant, rather than essential, pathway to induce neutrophil cytokine production during infection with L. monocytogenes. One member of the NLR family, NLRP6, has been suggested to be a negative regulator of inflammatory responses during infection with L. monocytogenes. Mice deficient in NLRP6 show increased survival and decreased bacterial burden following L. monocytogenes infection. In addition, NLRP6-deficient mice exhibit increased IL-6 and CXCL1 concentrations in circulation and in the peritoneum correlating with increased recruitment of GR-1+ cells to sites of infection (118).

A recent study identified the Sox2 transcription factor acting in the cytosol of neutrophils as a sensor of bacterial DNA. Upon recognition of bacterial DNA, such as that from *L*. *monocytogenes*, Sox2 initiates a signaling cascade ultimately resulting in production of proinflammatory cytokines, including TNF- α and IL-6. In addition, mice with phagocyte-specific Sox2 deficiency exhibited increased susceptibility to *L. monocytogenes* infection and since Sox2

is not expressed in macrophages, this indicates that Sox2 is a novel and essential sensor of *L*. *monocytogenes* in neutrophils (119). Mice deficient in Toso, an Fc receptor for IgM with previously unknown function, predominantly displayed decreased production of TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-12, as well as decreased phagocytic ability by granulocytes and a concurrent increase in bacterial burden following *L. monocytogenes* infection (120). These recent studies highlight novel bacterial sensors and signaling pathways in neutrophil activation during *L. monocytogenes* infection.

Deficiency in IFN- γ or the IFN- γ receptor renders mice highly susceptible to infection with L. monocytogenes (61, 65, 121, 122). Multiple subsets of lymphocytes can produce IFN- γ during L. monocytogenes infection (123), and our studies have shown that antigen-independent responses of memory CD8+ T cells are superior to NK cells at providing protection when transferred into IFN- γ deficient hosts (124). Interestingly, one study observed neutrophil-specific production of IFN-y during *L. monocytogenes* infection and showed that transferring neutrophils from wild-type mice into IFN- γ KO mice increased bacterial clearance (125), suggesting that multiple cells have the capacity to provide IFN- γ mediated protection against *L. monocytogenes*. Mice deficient in TNF- α , a pro-inflammatory cytokine produced by immune cells, or its receptor TNFR1, are highly susceptible to L. monocytogenes infection (126-129). Additionally, mice conditionally knocked out for phagocyte-specific TNF- α display extreme susceptibility to L. monocytogenes infection characterized by increased bacterial burden in the spleen and liver and decreased host survival (130). Furthermore, depletion of neutrophils during L. monocytogenes infection decreases the amount of TNF- α produced, correlating with increased bacterial burden (1). Decreased neutrophil activation due to deficiency of FPR1 or 4-1BB, also resulted in a decrease in TNF- α production (69, 97). Although the precise role of TNF- α produced by

neutrophils during *L. monocytogenes* infection is not known, it is possible that hepatocytes are lysed by the actions of neutrophil specific TNF- α production. A previous study has shown that neutrophil depletion with the GR-1 antibody led to increased liver damage assessed by increased AST concentrations in serum (59). Additional studies using microscopy have suggested that depletion of neutrophils with the GR-1 antibody results in decreased hepatocyte death at 24 hours post-infection (46). Furthermore, TNF- α has been shown to directly induce hepatocyte lysis (131, 132). Initially, neutrophil phagocytosis of *L. monocytogenes* could limit hepatocyte infection and at later time points neutrophil TNF- α production could induce hepatocyte death, thus reducing the cell-to-cell spread of *L. monocytogenes*."

Copyright 2016. American Association of Immunology, Inc.

Factors that influence neutrophil recruitment and function during *L. monocytogenes* infection are summarized in Figure 1.

ecSOD, Neutrophils and L. monocytogenes

Our laboratory has published data showing that ecSOD activity leads to an increase in the recruitment of neutrophils to the murine liver in both the absence and the presence of *L. monocytogenes* infection. Surprisingly, increased percentages of neutrophils in ecSOD HI mice did not translate to increased protection against *L. monocytogenes* infection. Conversely, ecSOD activity actually results in increased host susceptibility to infection and increased bacterial burden in the spleen and liver at day 3 post-infection (d3p.i.). In addition, ecSOD activity was determined to result in increased apoptosis of liver neutrophils, decreased co-localization with bacteria, decreased TNF- α and an overall decrease in peroxynitrite in the liver. Ultimately, it was shown that depletion of neutrophils in the ecSOD HI mice led to a decrease in host susceptibility

to *L. monocytogenes* infection indicating ecSOD activity inhibits the ability of neutrophils to protect against infection (2).

Significance

Although there have been great strides in understanding neutrophil biology in the last decade, there is still much we do not understand about factors that influence neutrophil development and function. This research proposes to investigate a novel relationship between a common host antioxidant enzyme, ecSOD, and a prominent immune cell type, neutrophils. Importantly, this research suggests that ecSOD activity leads to the recruitment of phenotypically and functionally immature neutrophils out of the bone marrow. In addition to the contribution to basic immunology and neutrophil biology that this research will contribute, it also suggests that inhibition of ecSOD, and potentially other antioxidants, could lead to short-term benefits against severe acute infections where neutrophils play essential roles. This research could also provide some cautions to researchers and clinicians who propose to use antioxidant treatments in diseases mediated by reactive oxygen species (7, 133, 134), which might simultaneously be severely inhibiting host immune responses.

Figure 1. Neutrophil recruitment and function during *L. monocytogenes* infection.

(A) Upon *L. monocytogenes* infection, neutrophils are rapidly released out of the bone marrow, where they travel through the circulation and into sites of infection, especially the liver. Direct interactions via chemokine/chemokine receptors, adhesion molecules, and FPRs, as well as indirect effects of cytokines/cytokine receptors are involved. (B) Neutrophil function upon recognition of bacteria or bacterial products includes phagocytosis, killing via ROS/RNS, and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines.



Copyright 2016. American Association of Immunology, Inc.

CHAPTER II MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice

ecSOD KO mice were originally provided by Dr. Cheryl L. Fattman and were backcrossed to C57Bl/6 mice at least eight times (University of Pittsburg). ecSOD HI and ecSOD WT mice were generated as previously described (135) with ecSOD HI mice expressing the ecSOD allele found in 129P3/J backcrossed to C57B1/6 mice at least eight times, and ecSOD WT mice expressing the "wild-type" ecSOD allele (found in multiple mouse strains, including C57Bl/6 mice) backcrossed to C57Bl/6 mice for at least eight generations. B6-Ly5.1/Cr mice (expressing the CD45.1 allele), used for bone marrow chimera studies, were purchased from Charles River Frederick Animal Facility. Gender and age-matched (7-12 week) mice were used for all experiments. All mice were provided food and water *ad libitum*, except under conditions for bone marrow chimeras described below, and were housed in sterile microisolator cages with sterile bedding at the University of North Texas Health Science Center AAALAC accredited animal facility. All animal studies were performed in compliance with the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of North Texas Health Science Center.

L. monocytogenes infections

L. monocytogenes 10403s serotype 1 was grown on brain-heart infusion (BHI) agar plates (BD Bacto, Sparks, MD) and virulence was maintained by routine passage through C57Bl/6 mice. *L. monocytogenes*-GFP is on the 10403S background and expresses GFP off the NF8 plasmid (a generous gift from Dr. Laurel Lenz at University of Colorado Denver) and it is selectively maintained on BHI plates with $15\mu g/mL$ erythromycin. For infections, *L. monocytogenes* was cultured overnight in BHI broth to reach log phase, washed twice with 1x phosphate buffered saline (PBS), and diluted to the appropriate concentration in sterile 1x PBS. The route of infection was intravenous for all *in vivo* experiments and a dose of ~ 10^4 was used for all experiments. Bacterial burden was determined by homogenizing organs, resuspending in desired volume of sterile double-distilled water (ddH₂O), serially diluting, and plating 50µL on BHI agar plates. Plates were incubated for 24 hours at 37° C and then colony-forming units (CFUs) were counted. For *in vitro* infections, *L. monocytogenes*-GFP was added at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 20:1 and cultured for 1 hour.

Organ processing and tissue culture

To isolate peripheral blood leukocytes, blood was collected from the lateral tail vein into Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) containing 2% FCS (Atlanta Biologicals, Norcross, GA) and heparin. Samples were then centrifuged at 1500 x g for 6 minutes and treated with Tris-Ammonium Chloride (TAC; pH 7.2) to lyse red blood cells (RBCs). Splenocytes were isolated by grinding whole spleens between two sterile glass slides. Livers were homogenized with Dounce homogenizers, then a discontinuous Percoll gradient was used to isolate liver leukocytes. Liver homogenates were resuspended in a 35% Percoll solution, then layered over 67.5% Percoll solution. Following centrifugation at 600 x g for 20 minutes, cells were harvested from the interface. RBC lysis of splenoctyes and liver leukocytes was performed with TAC. Bone marrow
cells were isolated by flushing femurs and tibiae with HBSS + 2% FBS + 2mM EDTA through a 70μm nylon cell strainer (BD Falcon). Red blood cells were lysed using a 0.2% solution of NaCl in ddH₂O followed by quenching with 1.6% NaCl in ddH₂O after 20 seconds (adapted from (136)). Bone marrow cells were incubated in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) + 10% FCS, L-glutamine, vitamins, and penicillin/streptomycin (Invitrogen-Gibco, Carlsbad, CA) overnight at 37°C with 5% CO₂ in the presence or absence of HKLM (MOI 50:1). Supernatants were collected and stored at -20°C until needed.

In vitro infection with L. monocytogenes

Bone marrow cells were incubated 24 well tissue culture plates in DMEM + 10% FCS, L-glutamine, vitamins, and penicillin/streptomycin (Invitrogen-Gibco, Carlsbad, CA) for one hour at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Next, *L. monocytogenes*-GFP was added at a MOI of 20:1, plates were centrifuged for 2 minutes at 1200 rpm on a Beckman Coulter Allegra X-12 centrifuge, and incubated for 2 hours followed by addition of gentamicin at 50µg/mL and incubation for another 30 minutes. Finally, cells were washed and transferred to 96 well plates for cell surface staining, as described below.

Flow cytometry based assays

For cell staining, the following antibodies were used from BD Biosciences (San Diego, CA): anti-Ly6G FITC (1A8), anti-CD11b PE-Cy7 (M1/70), anti-CD62L biotin (MEL-14); BioLegend (San Diego, CA): anti-CD16/CD32 (93), anti-Ly6G PE and PE-Cy7 (1A8), anti-CD117 PE (c-kit, 2B8), anti-CXCR2 AF647 (TG11), anti-CXCR4 PE (L276F12), anti-CD45.1 APC (A20), anti-CD45.2 FITC (104); Invitrogen (Grand Island, NY): anti-CD11b PE-TR (M1/70.15) For cell surface staining, liver leukocytes, splenocytes, peripheral blood leukocytes, or bone marrow cells were incubated with saturating amounts of antibodies, in addition to anti-CD16/32 to block Fc receptor binding, in FACS buffer (1x PBS + 2% FCS + 0.1% sodium azide) for 15 minutes at 4°C. Cells were fixed with either 1% paraformaldehyde or BD Stabilizing fixative.

To determine ROS production using 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (H₂DCFDA) (Life Technologies), bone marrow cells were incubated with 10 μ M H₂DCFDA, with or without HKLM stimulation, in DMEM + 10% FCS, L-glutamine, vitamins, and penicillin/streptomycin (Invitrogen-Gibco, Carlsbad, CA) for one hour at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Following this, cells were washed and stained for cell surface markers.

Neutrophil transfer

Bone marrow cells were harvest from ecSOD HI and ecSOD KO mice, then neutrophils were isolated via Histopaque gradient (Sigma)(136). Host ecSOD WT mice were infected for 1 day with 10^4 *L. monocytogenes* then 3.5×10^6 neutrophils from either ecSOD HI or ecSOD KO mice were transferred into the host mice. Control mice were infected ecSOD WT mice that received no transferred neutrophils. At d3p.i., spleens and livers were isolated and analyzed for bacterial burden (CFUs).

Granulopoiesis assay

Bone marrow cells were isolated from uninfected ecSOD congenic mice and cultured in duplicate in 6-well tissue culture plates with two wells per plate full of ddH₂O to maintain humidity. Cells were cultured in Methocult M3231 methylcellulose media (StemCell Technologies, Vancouver, BC, Canada), with recombinant IL-3 (10 ng/mL), IL-6 (10 ng/mL),

and G-CSF (50 ng/mL) (Biolegend, San Diego, CA), and incubated at 37° C with 5% CO₂ for 7 days. Colonies were identified via microscopy on day 7 (137, 138).

Quantification of G-CSF and CXCL12

To obtain bone marrow extracellular fluid (ECF), one femur and one tibia from each mouse was flushed with 2mL of 1x PBS (6). These samples were centrifuged at 1500 x g for 6 minutes and supernatant was harvested and stored at -20°C until needed.

CXCL12 and G-CSF were measured by DuoSet ELISA kits (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN).

Bone Marrow Chimera generation

Approximately 18 hours prior to irradiation, food was removed from all host mice. 12 ecSOD HI or ecSOD KO mice and 12 B6-Ly5.1/Cr mice were irradiated at ~1100 Rads from a ¹³⁷Cs source. These mice were then transferred to recently autoclaved, sterile microisolator cages where they remained without food, and where water was also removed. Bone marrow cells were isolated from 6-8 ecSOD HI or ecSOD KO mice and 6-8 B6-Ly5.1/Cr mice. These cells were processed as described above, resuspended in 1x PBS, then pooled with cells of the same genotype. To reconstitute the host mice, 10⁷ donor bone marrow cells were injected i.v. into the lateral tail vein. Food was then returned to these mice as well as antibiotic-containing water (2g/L neomycin sulfate in ddH₂O). Newly generated bone marrow chimeric (BMC) mice were monitored daily, and kept on antibiotic water for 2 weeks then returned to usual housing conditions described above. At 8 weeks post-reconstitution, approximately 100 µL of tail blood was taken from the lateral tail vein of BMC mice and stained for flow cytometry as described above, using CD45.1 and CD45.2 to determine successful chimerism. BMC mice were then infected with *L. monocytogenes*, as described previously, and used for experiments.

Statistical Analyses

Each experiment was repeated at least one time with 3-6 mice per group unless stated otherwise in the figure legend. One-way and two-way ANOVAs were conducted on the data where appropriate followed by Bonferroni *post hoc* analysis to determine significant differences between groups. An *, **, or ***, indicates that the groups differ at p < 0.05, p < 0.01, or p < 0.001, respectively. Bacterial burden (CFU) data was log transformed prior to analysis, as represented in the figures.

Chapter III

ECSOD ACTIVITY INHIBITS NEUTROPHIL FUNCTION IN THE MURINE LIVER

Previous studies from our laboratory determined that ecSOD activity leads to increased bacterial burden and decreased host survival while also resulting in increased recruitment of neutrophils to the liver. Preliminary characterization of the neutrophils recruited to the liver of ecSOD HI mice determined that these neutrophils did not co-localize with *L. monocytogenes* lesions and were impaired in their ability to produce TNF- α . Furthermore, depletion of neutrophils in ecSOD congenic mice resulted in decreased susceptibility to infection and determined that ecSOD HI liver neutrophils are not protective (2).

Further studies were performed to follow up on the ecSOD-mediated effects on both neutrophil recruitment and function. In order to determine if differences in neutrophil recruitment were due to cell-intrinsic alterations in the neutrophils, transfer studies were performed. Bone marrow cells were isolated from either ecSOD HI or ecSOD KO mice and labeled with a fluorescent dye, either CFSE or eFluor670, to mark their origins. Then an equivalent number of bone marrow cells (with equivalent percentage of neutrophils) were transferred into host ecSOD WT mice that were either left uninfected or had been infected for one day with 10⁴ *L. monocytogenes*. Livers were removed at 18 hours post-transfer and stained for neutrophils (Ly6G⁺CD11b⁺) then flow cytometry was performed to determine the percentage of neutrophils in the liver of host mice that were transferred from either ecSOD HI or ecSOD KO mice, based on the fluorescent dye labeling. Percent recovery of transferred neutrophils was determined from the livers of host mice and no differences in recovery were observed in either uninfected or d1p.i. mice. These data suggested that the ecSOD-mediated differences in

neutrophil recruitment were not due to cell-intrinsic differences. This led to further evaluation of potential differences in the environment that could lead to altered recruitment. Since ecSOD is known to protect the ECM from degradation in models of inflammation, concentrations of the ECM component hyaluronic acid (HA) were measured by ELISA. There were higher concentrations of HA in both the liver and bone of ecSOD HI mice compared to ecSOD WT and ecSOD KO mice at both uninfected and d1p.i. time points. This indicates that ecSOD is protecting the ECM from degradation which likely contributes to the increased recruitment of neutrophils in the ecSOD HI mice. Since neutrophil trafficking into tissues is partially mediated by CD44 binding to HA, both neutrophil expression of CD44 and their ability to bind to HA was measured. There were no differences between neutrophils from ecSOD congenic mice in expression of CD44 or their ability to bind to HA either prior to or during infection, further supporting the theory that ecSOD activity mediates neutrophil recruitment by modulating the environment, not by affecting cell-intrinsic changes in the neutrophils.

Since the ECM is also important for chemokine binding to create a chemotactic gradient, concentrations of the common neutrophil-attracting chemokines CXCL1 and CXCL2, as well as the neutrophil attractant and growth factor G-CSF, were measured in the serum and liver of ecSOD congenic mice at d1p.i.. Concentrations of CXCL1, CXCL2 and G-CSF were all higher in the serum of ecSOD HI mice and CXCL1 and CXCL2 concentrations were highest in the ecSOD HI livers. These data suggest that ecSOD activity leads to higher concentrations of neutrophil-attracting chemokines which would contribute to increased neutrophil recruitment to the livers of ecSOD HI mice.

Finally, studies were also performed on the neutrophils from ecSOD congenic to determine their functional ability. Flow cytometry based assays were used to measure the

intracellular and extracellular levels of MPO, oxidative burst generation, phagocytic ability, and neutrophil-specific intracellular bacterial burden. Neutrophils from the livers of ecSOD KO mice displayed the highest expression of both intracellular and extracellular MPO compared to ecSOD HI and ecSOD WT mice, indicating they are more functional. In addition, neutrophils from ecSOD HI mice were significantly impaired in their ability to generate oxidative burst compared to ecSOD KO mice. Furthermore, while liver neutrophils from ecSOD HI were slightly better at phagocytosing pH-sensitive bioparticles, neutrophil-associated bacterial burden was highest in these neutrophils. Overall, these data suggest that while ecSOD HI liver neutrophils have a slight advantage in phagocytosis, there functional ability to eliminate *L. monocytogenes* is impaired, likely due to decreased production of oxidative burst and MPO (submitted manuscript).

ecSOD activity leads to decreased shedding of L-selectin by liver neutrophils

To investigate the phenotypic maturity status of neutrophils in the livers of ecSOD congenic mice, cell surface expression of L-selectin (CD62L) was determined by flow cytometry. Mice were left uninfected or infected with 10⁴ *L. monocytogenes* for one day. Livers were harvested, processed, and stained for neutrophils (Ly6G⁺CD11b⁺) and L-selectin followed by flow cytometry analysis. In uninfected mice, nearly all neutrophils (~98%) from the liver of ecSOD congenic mice expressed L-selectin on the cell surface (Figure 2A for representative histograms and 2B). However, in uninfected mice, neutrophils from ecSOD KO mice expressed less L-selectin on a per cell basis (as measured by MFI) compared to the ecSOD HI and ecSOD WT mice (Figure 2D). After infection with *L. monocytogenes* for 1 day, there was no difference in either the percentage of neutrophils expressing L-selectin (Fig 2C) or the relative neutrophil expression of L-selectin (Fig 2E). These data suggest that neutrophils in the liver of ecSOD KO mice expressed mice are initially more phenotypically mature than those in ecSOD HI or WT mice, but after

infection these neutrophils are activated and shed L-selectin until there are no differences between the congenic mice. Importantly, L-selectin shedding only indicates phenotypic maturity and activation, it does not indicate functional maturity.

ecSOD activity does not permanently alter the ability of neutrophils to protect against L. monocytogenes infection

Despite the phenotypic and functional maturity differences observed in liver neutrophils from the ecSOD congenic mice, it remained unclear whether ecSOD activity resulted in cellintrinsic differences in the neutrophils' ability to protect against L. monocytogenes infection. In addition, the results of the neutrophil transfer that determined ecSOD does not lead to cellintrinsic differences in neutrophil recruitment may not correlate with ecSOD mediated differences in neutrophil function. Therefore, neutrophil transfer studies, similar to those used to evaluate neutrophil recruitment, were performed. As diagramed in Figure 3A, neutrophils were isolated from the bone marrow of ecSOD HI and ecSOD KO mice via Histopaque gradient and 3.5×10^6 neutrophils were transferred into ecSOD WT mice that had been infected with $10^4 L$. monocytogenes for 1 day. At d3p.i., spleens and livers were harvested from control mice infected ecSOD WT mice that did not receive any transferred neutrophils – and from ecSOD WT mice that received either ecSOD HI or ecSOD KO neutrophils. No differences in bacterial burden were observed in the spleen, however, this result is not surprising since previous observations have determined neutrophils are more important for protecting against L. monocytogenes infection in the liver than the spleen (1). Bacterial burden was decreased in the livers of ecSOD WT mice that had received transferred neutrophils, from either ecSOD HI or ecSOD KO mice, compared to the control mice which demonstrated that these transferred neutrophils are able to protect against infection in the liver. Importantly, there was no difference

in the decreased bacterial burden between ecSOD WT mice that received either ecSOD HI or ecSOD KO neutrophils, indicating that these transferred neutrophils are equivalently protective when placed into the same environment (Figure 3B). These data strongly suggest that while ecSOD activity inhibits neutrophil function, this is not a permanent cell-intrinsic defect.

Summary

The results presented in this chapter, in combination with the previously described data, suggest that in the liver, ecSOD activity modulates the environment leading to differences in recruitment and function of neutrophils. ecSOD activity does not cause cell-intrinsic differences in the ability of neutrophils to be recruited, rather ecSOD protects the ECM from degradation and leads to increased production of neutrophil-attracting chemokines. This likely increases the interactions between CD44 on neutrophils and the ECM, as well as binding of chemokines to the ECM and to their receptors on neutrophils, ultimately leading to increased recruitment of neutrophils to the liver in ecSOD HI mice.

Neutrophils recruited to the liver in ecSOD KO mice were determined to be more phenotypically and functionally mature. Neutrophils from the liver of ecSOD KO mice expressed less L-selectin, more MPO, were better able to generate oxidative burst, and had lower neutrophil-associated bacterial burden compared to liver neutrophils from ecSOD WT or ecSOD HI mice. In addition, neutrophil transfer studies showed that ecSOD activity does not lead to cell-intrinsic differences in neutrophil function since ecSOD HI and ecSOD KO neutrophils are equally protective when placed into the same environment. This further suggests that the functional differences in neutrophils between ecSOD congenic mice, like the recruitment differences, are due to environmental effects on the neutrophils.

Figure 2. ecSOD activity leads to decreased shedding of L-selectin by liver neutrophils.

ecSOD congenic mice were left uninfected or infected for 1 day with $10^4 L$. *monocytogenes* then livers were harvested and liver leukocytes isolated. Flow cytometry was performed to determine the percentage of neutrophils (Ly6G⁺CD11b⁺) that express L-selectin (CD62L) during uninfected (A for representative histograms, B) and d1p.i. (C) time points. In addition, the expression of L-selectin on a per cell basis was measure by mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) at both uninfected (D) and d1p.i. (E) time points. One-way ANOVAs were performed to determine statistical differences between groups. An * indicates that the groups differ at p < 0.05. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n=3-5/group). These data are representative of at least three independent experiments for each time point.



Figure 3. ecSOD activity does not permanently alter the ability of neutrophils to protect against *L. monocytogenes* infection.

(A) Neutrophils were isolated from ecSOD HI or ecSOD KO bone marrow by Histopaque gradient then 3.5×10^6 neutrophils were transferred into host ecSOD WT mice that were infected for 1 day with 10^4 *L. monocytogenes*. Control mice were infected ecSOD WT mice that received no transferred neutrophils. (B) At day 3 post-infection spleens and livers were isolated and analyzed for bacterial burden (CFUs). Two-way ANOVA was performed to determine statistical differences between groups. An *, or **, indicates that the groups differ at p < 0.05, or p < 0.01, respectively. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n=3-5/group). These data are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Chapter IV

ECSOD PROMOTES EGRESS OF IMMATURE MURINE BONE MARROW NEUTROPHILS

It has been established that functional differences in neutrophils are not permanent, since neutrophils from either ecSOD HI or ecSOD KO mice, placed into the same environment, are equally protective against *L. monocytogenes*. Neutrophils are generated and develop in the bone marrow, and functional defects mediated by ecSOD activity's effects on the tissue environment may also indicate differences in neutrophil function or development in the bone marrow.

ecSOD activity leads to increased immature neutrophils in the bone marrow and blood

Granulocyte precursors express high levels of c-kit, and downregulate it as they mature into neutrophils. Evaluation of c-kit expression on bone marrow neutrophils from ecSOD congenic mice by flow cytometry determined that ecSOD HI mice have higher percentage of ckit⁺ neutrophils than ecSOD KO mice at both uninfected (Figure 4A for representative histograms and 4B) and d1p.i. (Figure 4D) time points. In addition, neutrophils from ecSOD HI mice express more c-kit both in the absence of infection (Figure 4C) and at d1p.i. (Figure 4E) as compared to ecSOD KO mice, while neutrophils from ecSOD HI and ecSOD WT mice have comparable expression of c-kit. This indicates that there are more immature neutrophils in the bone marrow of ecSOD HI and ecSOD WT mice both prior to, and during, infection as compared to ecSOD KO mice. This finding was corroborated by utilizing a flow cytometry gating strategy for evaluating mature and immature neutrophils by Ly6G and CD11b expression (137). Developing neutrophils upregulate their expression of Ly6G and mature neutrophils

express higher levels of CD11b as they prepare to exit the bone marrow and traffic through the blood (3). Therefore, mature neutrophils in the bone marrow can be gated as Ly6G^{hi}CD11b^{hi} while immature neutrophils can be gated as Ly6G^{hi}CD11b^{int} (Figure 5A)(137). This gating strategy further indicates that there are more immature neutrophils, and hence fewer mature neutrophils, in uninfected ecSOD HI mice as compared to ecSOD KO mice (Figure 5B). In addition, while there were no differences in immature neutrophils at d1p.i., there were more mature neutrophils in the ecSOD KO mice (Figure 5C). Furthermore, while this gating strategy cannot be used to identify immature versus mature neutrophils outside the bone marrow, analysis of CD11b expression on neutrophils from the blood indicated that ecSOD HI neutrophils express less CD11b than ecSOD KO neutrophils both at uninfected (Figure 5D) and d1p.i. (Figure 5E) time points. This finding suggests that there are more immature neutrophils in the blood and bone marrow of ecSOD HI mice. This supports the previously described data indicating there are more immature neutrophils in the livers of ecSOD HI mice (as shown by L-selectin expression in Figure 2).

ecSOD activity leads to decreased production of G-CSF in the bone marrow

Differences in neutrophil maturity could indicate ecSOD mediated defects in neutrophil development in the bone marrow. In addition, the neutrophil growth factor G-CSF, which was decreased in the serum of ecSOD HI mice (submitted manuscript), is important for proper neutrophil maturation. To evaluate concentrations of G-CSF, bone marrow cells were isolated from uninfected or d1p.i. ecSOD congenic mice and cultured overnight with or without HKLM. Supernatants were collected and an ELISA was performed to measure G-CSF concentrations. There were no differences in G-CSF concentrations from unstimulated cells either from uninfected or d1p.i. mice. Cells from ecSOD HI mice cultured with HKLM produced less G-CSF

than ecSOD WT or ecSOD KO mouse bone marrow cells (Figure 6). These data suggest that decreased G-CSF concentrations in the bone marrow of ecSOD HI mice may result in inhibited neutrophil development leading to decreased neutrophil maturity in the blood, bone marrow and liver.

ecSOD activity does not alter potential for granulopoiesis

Since G-CSF is an essential growth factor for neutrophils in the bone marrow, differences in G-CSF concentrations could also indicate differences in neutrophil generation, or granulopoiesis. Flow cytometry analysis of the neutrophil progenitor populations in the bone marrow (Ly6G^{lo}CD11b⁺)(Figure 7A) showed no difference in percentages between the ecSOD congenic mice at either uninfected (Figure 7B) or d1p.i. (Figure 7C) time points. In addition, a granulopoiesis assay was performed by isolating bone marrow cells from ecSOD congenic mice and culturing them for 7 days with appropriate cytokines and growth factors at equivalent concentrations, then evaluating the number of granulocytic colonies based on morphology. There were no differences between the ecSOD congenic mice in number of colonies recorded from the granulopoiesis assay (Figure 7D). These data suggest that there are no defects in neutrophil granulopoiesis in the ecSOD congenic mice.

ecSOD activity does not alter chemokine receptor expression on bone marrow neutrophils

The high percentage of immature neutrophils and low concentrations of G-CSF observed in the ecSOD HI mice may indicate that there is decreased neutrophil retention in these mice. In addition, the previously described high concentrations of CXCL1 and CXCL2 may contribute to increased recruitment out of the bone marrow in the ecSOD HI mice. The expression of chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CXCR2 on bone marrow neutrophils from the ecSOD congenic mice was determined by flow cytometry. There were no differences in the percentages of neutrophils in the bone marrow expressing either CXCR4 or CXCR2 at either uninfected or d1p.i. time points (Figure 8). Furthermore, there were no differences in relative expression of CXCR4 or CXCR2 on neutrophils in the bone marrow from either uninfected or d1p.i. mice (MFI data not shown). These data suggest that differences in release or recruitment out of the bone marrow are mediated by differences in chemokine concentrations not receptor expression.

ecSOD activity leads to decreased CXCL12 in the bone marrow

While there were no differences in expression of CXCR4 or CXCR2 on neutrophils, differences in neutrophil maturity in the bone marrow and the blood suggest that concentrations of the chemokine ligand for CXCR4 may be altered. Therefore, concentrations of CXCL12 were measured from supernatants of flushed bone marrow from uninfected ecSOD congenic mice. There were higher concentrations of CXCL12 in the bone marrow of ecSOD KO mice compared to ecSOD HI and ecSOD WT mice (Figure 9). This suggests that chemokine signaling responsible for retaining neutrophils in the bone marrow until they are mature is decreased in the ecSOD HI mice, which supports the data indicating more immature neutrophils in bone marrow and blood of these mice.

ecSOD activity decreases oxidative burst and phagocytosis by bone marrow neutrophils

To determine if the decreased neutrophil maturity in the bone marrow of ecSOD HI mice correlated with decreased function, flow cytometry based assays were used to measure oxidative burst and phagocytosis. H₂DCFDA, an indicator of oxidative burst, was used to measure the ability of bone marrow neutrophils from the ecSOD congenic mice to generate ROS. Fewer bone marrow neutrophils from uninfected ecSOD HI mice were able to generate ROS after stimulation with HKLM than neutrophils from ecSOD WT or ecSOD KO mice (Figure 10A). In addition, ecSOD HI neutrophils were less able to generate oxidative burst in response to HKLM (Figure 10B). In order to evaluate the phagocytic ability of bone marrow neutrophils from the ecSOD congenic mice, neutrophils were isolated and infected *in vitro* with *L. monocytogenes*-GFP then flow cytometry was used to determine the percentage of GFP⁺ neutrophils. There were fewer GFP⁺ neutrophils from the ecSOD HI mice compared to the ecSOD WT and ecSOD KO mice, suggesting these neutrophils may be less able to efficiently phagocytose bacteria (Figure 9). Taken together, these findings indicate that ecSOD activity leads to functionally impaired neutrophils in the bone marrow.

Summary

The effects of ecSOD on neutrophil recruitment and function were first observed in the liver, however, a role for ecSOD activity in the bone marrow, where neutrophils are generated and develop, was necessary to expand our understanding of the relationship between ecSOD and neutrophils. The data presented here show that ecSOD activity leads to decreased concentrations of the neutrophil retention factor CXCL12, although it does not affect neutrophil expression of chemokine receptors CXCR4 or CXCR2. This decreased retention correlates with high percentages of immature neutrophils in the bone marrow and blood of ecSOD HI mice and these neutrophils are less able to generate oxidative burst or phagocytose *L. monocytogenes*. In addition, observed differences in G-CSF concentration indicate a potential role for this growth factor in mediating effects on neutrophil recruitment and function in response to ecSOD activity, however, these effects do not include decreased potential for granulopoiesis. Ultimately, it appears that ecSOD activity in the bone marrow leads to decreased retention and early release of phenotypically and functionally immature neutrophils.

Figure 4. ecSOD activity leads to increased immature neutrophils in the bone marrow.

ecSOD congenic mice were left uninfected (A for representative histograms, B and C) or infected for 1 day with 10^4 *L. monocytogenes* (D and E) and flow cytometry was performed to determine the percentage of bone marrow neutrophils (Ly6G+CD11b+) that expressed c-kit (B and D) as well the level of c-kit expression on neutrophils (C and E). One-way ANOVAs were performed to determine statistical differences between groups. An *** indicates that the groups differ at p < 0.001. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n=3-5/group). These data are representative of at least two independent experiments.



Figure 5. ecSOD activity leads to increased immature neutrophils in the bone marrow and blood.

ecSOD congenic mice were left uninfected or infected for 1 day with $10^4 L$. monocytogenes. Flow cytometry analysis was performed to determine the percentage of mature neutrophils (Ly6G^{hi}CD11b^{hi}) and immature neutrophils (Ly6G^{hi}CD11b^{int}) in the bone marrow at uninfected (A for representative histograms, B) and d1p.i. (C) time points. Relative expression of CD11b was measured on peripheral blood neutrophils at uninfected (D) and d1p.i. (E) time points. One-way ANOVAs were performed to determine statistical differences between groups. An *, **, or ***, indicates that the groups differ at p < 0.05, p < 0.01, or p < 0.001, respectively. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n=3-5/group). These data are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Figure 6. ecSOD activity leads to decreased production of G-CSF in the bone marrow.

ecSOD congenic mice were left uninfected (A) or infected for 1 day (B) with $10^4 L$. *monocytogenes*. Bone marrow cells were isolated and cultured overnight in the presence and absence of HKLM stimulation. Supernatants were harvested and G-CSF concentrations were measured by ELISA. Two-way ANOVAs were performed to determine statistical differences between groups. An *, **, or ***, indicates that the groups differ at p < 0.05, p < 0.01, or p < 0.001, respectively. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n=3-5/group). These data are representative of one independent experiment for each time point.



Figure 7. ecSOD activity does not alter potential for granulopoiesis.

ecSOD congenic mice were left uninfected or infected for 1 day with $10^4 L$. *monocytogenes*. Flow cytometry analysis was performed to determine the percentage of neutrophil progenitors (Ly6G^{lo}CD11b⁺) in the bone marrow at uninfected (A for representative histograms, B) and d1p.i. (C) time points. (D) Bone marrow cells were isolated from uninfected ecSOD congenic mice and cultured in duplicate in Methocult media, with IL-3, IL-6 and G-CSF, for 7 days. Colonies were identified via microscopy on day 7. One-way ANOVAs were unable to detect any differences between groups. All data are presented as mean ± SEM (n=2-5/group). These data are representative of three independent experiments.



Figure 8. ecSOD activity does not alter chemokine receptor expression on bone marrow neutrophils.

ecSOD congenic mice were left uninfected (A and B) or infected for 1 day (C and D) with $10^4 L$. *monocytogenes*. Flow cytometry was performed to determine the percentage of neutrophils (Ly6G⁺CD11b⁺) that expressed CXCR4 (A and C) or CXCR2 (B and D). One-way ANOVAs were unable to determine statistical differences between groups. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n=3-5/group). These data are representative of at least three independent experiments for each time point.





Figure 9. ecSOD activity leads to decreased CXCL12 in the bone marrow.

Bone marrow extracellular fluid (ECF) was flushed from uninfected ecSOD congenic mice. Concentrations of CXCL12 were measured from the supernatants of ECF by ELISA. One-way ANOVAs were unable to determine statistical differences between groups. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n=3-5/group). These data are representative of one independent experiment.



Figure 10. ecSOD activity decreases oxidative burst by bone marrow neutrophils.

Bone marrow cells were isolated from uninfected ecSOD congenic mice and cultured with 10μ M H₂DCFDA in the presence or absence of HKLM stimulation. Flow cytometry analysis determined the percentage of neutrophils (Ly6G⁺CD11b⁺) that generated ROS (A) and their relative ROS generation (B). Two-way ANOVAs were performed to determine statistical differences between groups. An *** indicates that the groups differ at p < 0.001. All data are presented as mean ± SEM (n=3-5/group). These data are representative of two independent experiments.



Figure 11. ecSOD activity decreases phagocytosis by bone marrow neutrophils.

Bone marrow cells were isolated from uninfected ecSOD congenic mice and incubated with *L. monocytogenes*-GFP (MOI 20:1). Flow cytometry was performed to determine what percentage of neutrophils (Ly6G⁺CD11b⁺) were associated with *L. monocytogenes*-GFP. One-way ANOVA was performed to determine statistical differences between groups. An *, **, or ***, indicates that the groups differ at p < 0.05, p < 0.01, or p < 0.001, respectively. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n=3-5/group). These data are representative of two independent experiments.



Chapter V

ECSOD PRODUCED BY BOTH HEMATOPOIETIC AND NON-HEMATOPOIETIC CELLS CONTRIBUTE TO DIFFERENCES IN NEUTROPHIL RECRUITMENT AND FUNCTION

Since ecSOD can be produced by multiple cell types throughout the body, it was important to determine if there were differing contributions for ecSOD produced by hematopoietic versus non-hematopoietic cells in the altered neutrophil recruitment and function observed in ecSOD congenic mice. Previous data demonstrating that ecSOD activity impacts the tissue environment but does not permanently affect neutrophil recruitment and function, suggest that ecSOD production from different cell lineages may vary in their contribution to generating the neutrophil phenotype in ecSOD congenic mice. In order to investigate the effects of enhanced ecSOD activity (ecSOD HI) or lack of ecSOD activity (ecSOD KO) from hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells, bone marrow chimeric (BMC) mice were generated.

Absence of ecSOD in either hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells leads to increased L. monocytogenes clearance and decreased neutrophil recruitment

BMC mice were generated by lethally irradiating a host mouse and reconstituting with bone marrow cells from a donor mouse. After eight weeks, successful bone marrow engraftment was determined by harvesting blood, staining and performing flow cytometry to analyze the congenic marker CD45. Once chimerism was determined, mice were infected with *L*. *monocytogenes*. BMC mice were generated using ecSOD KO and C57/Bl6 mice (wild-type ecSOD activity) in groups as shown in Figure 12A, and infected for 3 days prior to harvest. While there were no significant differences in bacterial burden between the four groups of BMC mice, the control groups did follow the trend established with the ecSOD congenic mice with WT -> WT mice having higher bacterial burden than ecSOD KO -> ecSOD KO mice in both the spleen and liver. In addition, the trend indicates that when ecSOD activity is knocked out from either hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cell lineages (ecSOD KO -> WT, WT -> ecSOD KO), bacterial burden in the liver is decreased as compared to WT -> WT control mice (Fig 12B). Neutrophil percentages also followed the expected trend seen in the ecSOD congenic mice with WT -> WT mice showing a higher percentage of neutrophils in the liver than ecSOD KO -> ecSOD KO mice. Furthermore, the trend indicates that when ecSOD activity is knocked out from either hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cell lineages, neutrophil recruitment to the liver is decreased (Fig 12C). This suggests that ecSOD produced from both cell lineages is important for maintaining both increased neutrophil recruitment and impaired neutrophil function observed in ecSOD WT and ecSOD KO mice.

Enhanced ecSOD activity reveals divergent roles for ecSOD produced by either hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells

Bone marrow chimera mice were generated using ecSOD HI and C57/Bl6 mice (wildtype ecSOD activity) in groups as shown in Figure 13A, and infected for 3 days prior to harvest. Although there were no differences in bacterial burden between the four groups of mice, the control mice did follow the trend established in the ecSOD congenic mice. The HI -> HI mice had higher bacterial burden than the WT -> WT mice. Mice with high activity ecSOD produced by the hematopoietic cells (HI -> HI and HI -> WT) displayed higher bacterial burden than mice with wild-type activity ecSOD (WT -> WT and WT -> HI) (Fig 13B). This suggests that enhanced ecSOD activity in immune cells leads to decreased clearance of *L. monocytogenes*.

The trend from ecSOD congenic mice regarding neutrophil recruitment was also observed in the control bone marrow chimeras with HI -> HI mice having higher percentages of

neutrophils in the liver compared to WT -> WT mice. However, mice with high activity ecSOD produced by the non-hematopoietic cells (HI -> HI and WT -> HI) displayed higher neutrophil recruitment than mice with wild-type activity ecSOD from non-hematopoietic cells (WT -> WT and HI -> WT) (Fig 13B). This suggests that enhanced ecSOD activity from somatic cells leads to increased neutrophil recruitment to the liver.

Summary

The data presented here suggest that absence of ecSOD activity from either hematopoietic cells or non-hematopoietic cells is sufficient to decrease bacterial burden and decrease neutrophil recruitment to the liver. However, enhanced ecSOD activity, such as that observed in ecSOD HI mice, indicates there may be duality in the role of ecSOD produced by each cell lineage. When only hematopoietic derived cells produce ecSOD with high activity, the mice display increased susceptibility to *L. monocytogenes* infection. However, when only nonhematopoietic cells produce ecSOD with high activity, the increase in neutrophil recruitment is enhanced. Ultimately these data suggest that at d3p.i., ecSOD activity is required from both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic cells in order to maintain the increased neutrophil recruitment, but this also leads to increased bacterial burden. **Figure 12.** Absence of ecSOD in either hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells leads to increased *L. monocytogenes* clearance and decreased neutrophil recruitment.

(A) Bone marrow chimeras were generated by irradiation of host mice and reconstitution with bone marrow of donor mice in order to generate the groups shown. Then bone marrow chimeric mice were infected for 3 days with 10^4 *L. monocytogenes*. (B) Bacterial burden (CFUs) was determined from the spleen and liver of bone marrow chimeras at d3p.i. (C) Flow cytometry was used to determine percentages of neutrophils in the spleen, liver and blood of bone marrow chimeras at d3p.i. Two-way ANOVAs were performed to determine statistical differences between groups. An *, or *** indicates that the groups differ at p <0.05, or p < 0.001, respectively. All data are presented as mean ± SEM (n=4-6/group). These data are representative of two independent experiments.



Figure 13. Enhanced ecSOD activity reveals divergent roles for ecSOD produced by either hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells.

(A) Bone marrow chimeras were generated by irradiation of host mice and reconstitution with bone marrow of donor mice in order to generate the groups shown. Then bone marrow chimeric mice were infected for 3 days with $10^4 L$. *monocytogenes*. (B) Bacterial burden (CFUs) were determined from the spleen and liver of bone marrow chimeras at d3p.i. (C) Flow cytometry was used to determine percentages of neutrophils in the spleen, liver and blood of bone marrow chimeras at d3p.i. Two-way ANOVAs were performed to determine statistical differences between groups. An *, or *** indicates that the groups differ at p <0.05, or p < 0.001, respectively. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM (n=4-6/group). These data are representative of at least three independent experiments.



Chapter VI

DISCUSSION

Chapter III

Previous studies from our laboratory have established a role for ecSOD activity in the regulation of neutrophil responses. ecSOD activity leads to increased recruitment of neutrophils in both the absence and presence of infection with the intracellular bacterial pathogen *L. monocytogenes*. However, this enhanced neutrophil recruitment does not correlate with protection during infection, rather, mice with high ecSOD activity are more susceptible to *L. monocytogenes* (2). A range of studies were performed to evaluate the phenotypic and functional maturity of neutrophils in mice with different ecSOD activity. Bone marrow transfer studies using fluorescent dye labeled neutrophils determined that ecSOD activity does not lead to cell-intrinsic differences in the ability of neutrophils to be recruited to the liver under basal or infectious conditions (manuscript submitted).

Since differences in neutrophil recruitment in ecSOD congenic mice were not cellintrinsic, further studies focused on the effects of ecSOD activity on the tissue environment and the subsequent impact on recruitment. ecSOD is responsible for converting superoxide to hydrogen peroxide, which can be rapidly cleared, in order to reduce damage to host tissues (9). In models of lung inflammation, ecSOD has been shown to protect the ECM from degradation (13-15, 32). Importantly, interactions between CD44 present on neutrophils and the HA component of the ECM mediate efficient neutrophil trafficking into tissues, including the liver (33-35). In addition, chemokines bind to components of the ECM in order to establish concentration gradients important for neutrophil chemotaxis and recruitment (139). Concentrations of HA were observed to be higher in the liver and bone of ecSOD HI mice at both uninfected and d1p.i. time points, indicating that ecSOD is protecting the ECM from degradation in our model. There were no differences in the expression of CD44 on neutrophils or their ability to bind HA either prior to or during infection (submitted manuscript), further suggesting that neutrophils are not altered in their ability to be recruited, rather they are dependent on the quality of the environment. Supporting this theory, concentrations of neutrophil-attracting chemokines CXCL1 and CXLC2 were found to be higher in the serum and livers of ecSOD HI mice (submitted manuscript), which likely augments the effects of increased intact ECM leading to increased neutrophil recruitment.

While the increased ECM and chemokine concentrations provides a reasonable explanation behind the increased recruitment observed in ecSOD HI mice, it does not provide insight into the lack of protection displayed by neutrophils from ecSOD HI mice. Studies of neutrophil function indicated that neutrophils from the livers of ecSOD KO mice have the highest expression of intracellular and extracellular MPO, and while ecSOD HI liver neutrophils are slightly better at phagocytosis, they have impaired oxidative burst generation, and the highest neutrophil-specific intracellular bacterial burden. Overall, these data suggest that liver neutrophils from ecSOD HI mice are functionally impaired resulting in decreased host resistance to *L. monocytogenes*. It is known that ecSOD expression can be downregulated by TNF- α signaling (7, 140), and interestingly, in the ecSOD HI mice, we see decreased production of TNF- α (2), therefore it might be beneficial to explore a feedback loop involving both ecSOD

activity and TNF- α signaling pathways. Interestingly, it has also been shown that TNF- α can induce the down-regulation of CXCR2 on the surface of neutrophils (141), and while there was no difference in CXCR2 expression on bone marrow neutrophils, this could still suggest a complex mechanism involving ecSOD activity leading to reduced TNF- α and increased CXCR2-induced neutrophils chemotaxis.

Degraded HA has been shown to stimulate immune cells through TLR4 (142-144). In our model, it would be predicted that more degraded HA would be generated in the ecSOD KO mice since ecSOD is absent and there is no protection of the tissues against oxidative damage. This could lead to increased activation of neutrophils in the ecSOD KO mice, suggesting a mechanism for their increased function. However, ex vivo splenocytes and liver leukocytes from ecSOD WT mice cultured with different molecular weight HA, including HA degraded with hyaluronidase, showed no differences in production of TNF- α or IFN- γ (data not shown). This does not exclude the possibility that degraded HA in combination with other damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) could induce or enhance neutrophil responses. One DAMP that would be interesting to investigate in our model is high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) protein, which was previously known to be an important regulator of transcription in the nucleus but has more recently been shown to induce immune responses when released from activated or damaged cells (145). Importantly, the oxidative state of HMGB1 regulates its function which could be particularly relevant in our model since differences in ecSOD activity affect the oxidative environment. HMGB1 has three cysteine residues and when completely oxidized, the protein has no immune function. However, partially reduced HMGB1 can bind to toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) and lead to production of pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF-a. Finally,

fully reduced HMGB1 has been shown to have chemotactic functions to recruit immune cells to sites of inflammation (146, 147).

L-selectin is minimally expressed on bone marrow neutrophils but highly upregulated on circulating neutrophils since it is an important adhesion molecule for trafficking into tissues. Once neutrophils have successfully extravasated into a tissue, they shed L-selectin, and upon activation further shedding occurs, ultimately allowing mature and activated neutrophils to be identified by their low L-selectin expression (31). Evaluation of neutrophil L-selectin expression in ecSOD congenic mice indicated that neutrophils in the liver of ecSOD HI mice are less mature prior to infection that ecSOD WT or ecSOD KO neutrophils. Interestingly, expression of Lselectin on neutrophils appears to decrease from the uninfected state to the infected state and differences in MFI between the ecSOD KO mice and the ecSOD HI and WT mice are abrogated at d1p.i. Both of these findings support the idea that L-selectin should be decreased on the surface of mature neutrophils and further shed upon activation, in this case, during L. monocytogenes infection. Importantly, while L-selectin shedding indicates maturity or activation, it does not necessarily indicate the functional ability of neutrophils. These data suggest that neutrophils in the liver of ecSOD HI mice are phenotypically and functionally immature prior to infection and that during infection with L. monocytogenes, these cells are activated but still functionally impaired.

Differences in liver neutrophil maturity could indicate that, in contrast to the neutrophil recruitment findings, there are cell-intrinsic defects in ecSOD HI neutrophils that lead to decreased function and decreased protection during infection. Neutrophil transfer studies to measure protective ability indicated that there are no permanent or cell-instrinsic differences in neutrophils from ecSOD congenic mice. This correlates with the similar finding regarding

neutrophil recruitment and indicates that ecSOD mediates its effects on both neutrophil recruitment and function by modulating the environment, not by permanently altering the neutrophils. Neutrophil transfers performed in mice that lack neutrophils, termed Genista mice (148), would be even more compelling to show that in the absence of host neutrophils, transferred neutrophils are able to provide protection, and that this protection is equivalent regardless of whether neutrophils originated from ecSOD HI or ecSOD KO mice. In addition, the neutrophil protection transfer experiments utilize neutrophils isolated from the bone marrow of donor mice in order to isolate sufficient numbers of neutrophils to transfer and observe protection. However, bone marrow neutrophils might still retain enough plasticity to alter their phenotype and function based on a new environment. However, functional defects in neutrophils may be permanent once those neutrophils reach the liver. Ideally, in future studies, neutrophils isolated from the liver would be transferred into host Genista mice to measure their protective ability in an environment where even a small number of neutrophils could provide resistance against *L. monocytogenes* infection.

Based on all these data, it is clear that ecSOD activity modulates the liver environment by protecting the ECM from degradation and also enhances concentrations of neutrophil-attracting chemokines leading to increased neutrophil recruitment into the liver both prior to, and during, infection with *L. monocytogenes*. Importantly, it has also been shown that these neutrophils are not protective during infection due to functional defects including reduced MPO production and reduced oxidative burst generation. While these functional defects do not result from permanent alterations in neutrophils, but rather from ecSOD mediated effects on the environment which in turn inhibit neutrophil function, the mechanism behind these defects is still unclear. Since

neutrophils develop and mature in the bone marrow, it is possible that ecSOD activity affects the bone marrow environment, leading to decreased neutrophil maturity and function.

Chapter IV

Downregulation of c-kit expression and increased Ly6G expression are characteristic of the transition from granulocyte precursors to mature neutrophils. Furthermore, neutrophils preparing to leave the bone marrow upregulate the CD11b adhesion molecule, allowing them to be identified as a mature population of bone marrow neutrophils (3). Evaluation of c-kit expression and Ly6G/CD11b expression on bone marrow neutrophils in ecSOD congenic mice confirmed that these neutrophils are predominantly immature in ecSOD HI mice prior to infection. In addition, CD11b expression on blood neutrophils mirrored this finding with ecSOD HI neutrophils expressing less CD11b than ecSOD WT or ecSOD KO neutrophils. This suggests that there are more immature neutrophils in the blood, as well as the bone marrow, of ecSOD HI mice. During infection, it is expected that more neutrophils are released from the bone marrow to traffic to sites of infection and that granulopoiesis would be increased in response (3). While the differences in percentages of mature bone marrow neutrophils also appear at d1p.i., the differences in immature neutrophil percentages are abrogated, most likely due to increased granulopoiesis in response to infection. In addition, while percentages of immature neutrophils in the bone marrow remain the same, or increase, from uninfected to infected state, overall percentages of mature neutrophils decrease upon infection, indicating increased release into circulation in response to infection.

Concentrations of G-CSF produced by bone marrow cells after stimulation with HKLM indicated that cells from both uninfected and d1p.i. ecSOD HI mice are less able to produce G-CSF than cells from ecSOD WT or ecSOD KO mice. This could contribute to the differences in

neutrophil maturity observed in the congenic mice as G-CSF is important for efficient neutrophil generation and development. This method of measuring G-CSF may only provide insight into the ability of immune cells in the bone marrow to generate G-CSF rather than providing data about concentrations of G-CSF in the bone marrow under basal or infectious conditions. To address this limitation, G-CSF concentrations in the bone marrow also need to be measured in extracellular fluid supernatants from bone marrow to generate more accurate results of what is occurring *in vivo*. In addition, differences in G-CSF receptor expression, particularly on neutrophils, should be investigated since this would also lead to differences in neutrophil maturity.

In the granulopoiesis assay, the data showing no difference in colonies across the ecSOD congenic mice indicates that ecSOD does not affect the potential for granulopoiesis in these mice. However, since we have firmly established that neutrophils isolated from the different mice exhibit plasticity and are recruited and function equivalently when placed in the same environment, we cannot completely rule out that ecSOD activity may lead to differences in granulopoiesis *in vivo*. This is further supported by the fact that there are differences in G-CSF production from the bone marrow of ecSOD congenic mice, however, in the granulopoiesis assay the concentrations of all growth factors and cytokines is equivalent across the three groups, potentially eliminating the ecSOD-mediated environmental impact.

Early release of immature neutrophils from the bone marrow of ecSOD HI mice could be due to increased release factors, decreased retention factors, or both. As discussed, there are increased concentrations of CXCL1 and CXCL2 in the serum of ecSOD HI mice which would bind to CXCR2 on neutrophils and enhance their release from the bone marrow. No differences were observed in CXCR2 expression on neutrophils suggesting that differences in neutrophil
release signals depend on the chemokine concentrations. Measuring concentrations of CXCL1 and CXCL2 in the bone marrow may provide additional insight into involvement of these chemokines in the release of neutrophils from the bone marrow. There were no differences in expression of CXCR4 on bone marrow neutrophils, which, combined with the CXCR2 data, further supports the idea that ecSOD does not mediate neutrophil recruitment by directly acting on neutrophils but rather by altering the tissue environment. Despite the lack of differences in CXCR4, there was decreased concentrations of CXCL12 in the bone marrow of ecSOD HI mice. Since CXCL12 binding to CXCR4 is the major signal regulating neutrophil retention in the bone marrow, this suggests a decrease in neutrophil retention in ecSOD HI mice. The combination of increased release signaling and decreased retention signaling likely contributes to the increased recruitment of neutrophils into the blood and the liver in ecSOD HI mice.

A potential mechanism behind ecSOD-mediated differences in chemokine concentrations and neutrophil retention and release factors involves the influence of G-CSF on neutrophil mobilization. Previous studies have shown that administration of G-CSF leads to decreased CXCL12 expression in the bone marrow (5, 149, 150), and it has been suggested that G-CSF can lead to cleavage of the CXCL12/CXCR4 interactions that retain neutrophils in the bone marrow (66). This cleavage has been attributed to various proteases, including matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs)(139). Furthermore, studies have shown an additional mechanism for G-CSF mediated upregulation of CXCR2 on neutrophils, which would not be relevant to our model, as well as increased responsiveness of neutrophils to CXCL2 via STAT3 signaling and thrombopoietin release (151, 152). Since G-CSF is elevated in the serum of ecSOD HI mice, and CXCL12 is decreased in the bone marrow, the effects of G-CSF through the previously mentioned mechanisms needs to be further investigated in ecSOD congenic mice. The decreased G-CSF

produced in response to HKLM from cultured bone marrow cells contrasts with this theory (Figure 6), however, the previously mentioned caveats about using this method of measuring G-CSF concentrations from the bone marrow mean we cannot rule out a relationship between G-CSF and CXCL12.

It was determined that neutrophils from the bone marrow of ecSOD HI mice are less functional than those of ecSOD WT or ecSOD KO mice. These neutrophils were less able to generate oxidative burst upon stimulation and were less able to phagocytose *L. monocytogenes in vitro*. Further studies to evaluate the function of these neutrophils should include degranulation assays and analysis of pro-inflammatory cytokine production. In addition, assays to clarify phagocytic ability of bone marrow neutrophils should be performed since the *in vitro* assay used to measure phagocytosis may not reflect *in vivo* neutrophil activity. The *in vitro* assay also cannot differentiate between cells associated with *L. monocytogenes*-GFP as a result of infection, versus resulting from phagocytosis.

Chapter V

It has been shown that ecSOD is produced in multiple tissues by multiple cell types, including both immune and non-immune cells (7, 8). Therefore, it is important to attempt to determine if hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic production of ecSOD play a more significant role in the differences in neutrophil recruitment and function observed in ecSOD congenic mice. Bone marrow chimeras allow for the generation of mice that express ecSOD from either hematopoietic-derived cells or somatic cells to differentiate the relative contributions of ecSOD activity from either cell lineage. In addition, bone marrow chimeras can be generated that have enhanced ecSOD activity from either hematopoietic or non-hematopoietic cells to determine if the enhanced activity significantly alters the phenotype.

Bone marrow chimeras between ecSOD KO and C57/Bl6 (wild-type ecSOD) mice determined that only when ecSOD is produced by both hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic cells are the increased bacterial burden and increased neutrophil recruitment observed. Absence of ecSOD from either lineage (ecSOD KO -> WT or WT -> ecSOD KO), or from both lineages (ecSOD KO -> ecSOD KO), leads to decreased bacterial burden and decreased neutrophil recruitment into the liver.

Potential divergent roles for ecSOD produced by each cell lineage was apparent in BMC mouse studies using the ecSOD HI and C57/Bl6 mice. Enhanced ecSOD activity (ecSOD HI) produced only from hematopoietic cells resulted in increased bacterial burden while enhanced ecSOD activity produced by non-hematopoietic cells resulted in increased neutrophil recruitment. However, these results were observed as trends not as statistically significant differences so further studies are needed to explore potential differences in ecSOD activity from each cell lineage.

Generation of bone marrow chimeras between ecSOD HI and ecSOD KO mice would be the most revealing in determining the differences between ecSOD produced from hematopoietic cells and non-hematopoietic cells in regulating neutrophil recruitment or function since these mice have the largest differences in congenic studies. Unfortunately, both ecSOD HI and ecSOD KO mice express the CD45.2 allele so there would be no internal control to check for successful chimerism in these studies. To overcome this limitation, ecSOD HI and ecSOD KO mice could be crossed onto the B6-Ly5.1/Cr background while still retaining their respective ecSOD alleles. While differences in bacterial burden may not be significantly different at d3p.i., functional studies of neutrophils from the liver of BMC mice at this time point should be performed. All the data presented are from d3p.i., therefore these experiments need to be completed at d1p.i. as well

to further explore potential differences in recruitment and function of neutrophils. Future studies should also be performed on uninfected BMC mice to determine if the differences in neutrophil recruitment and function observed in uninfected congenic mice are also present in BMC mice in the absence of infection. Finally, since differences in chemokine concentrations appears to be an important mechanism behind ecSOD-mediated differences in both neutrophil recruitment and function, CXCL1 and CXCL2 should be measured in liver homogenates, serum, and bone marrow of BMC mice and CXCL12 should be measured in the bone marrow extracellular fluid.

Conclusions

While these studies provide further insight into the role of ecSOD activity in regulating neutrophil recruitment and function in both the absence and presence of infection, there are still potential mechanisms of action that need to be further explored. One area to investigate further is how ecSOD activity directly or indirectly alters chemokine concentrations. The ability of ecSOD activity to protect the ECM from degradation may contribute to longer half-life or reduced clearance of chemokines that bind to the ECM. Furthermore, chemokines possess cysteine residues that may make them susceptible to oxidative stress which could result in increased degradation of chemokines in ecSOD KO mice.

Future studies should also attempt to elucidate the role of ecSOD produced by different cell types by expanding on the bone marrow chimera experiments performed here, as well as additional studies to determine if ecSOD produced by neutrophils can act in an autocrine manner to regulate recruitment or function, or if the phenomena observed in ecSOD congenic mice is purely due to ecSOD affecting the environment and subsequently altering neutrophil responses.

Finally, an avenue of ecSOD activity that has not been discussed is the potential effects of ecSOD activity directly on *L. monocytogenes* and the ability of neutrophils to kill the bacteria. It has been proposed that ecSOD may be taken up into the phagosome, along with bacteria, where it might contribute to the conversion of superoxide into hydrogen peroxide and lead to decreased killing of *L. monocytogenes*. Studies to investigate this possibility would include extensive microscopy and use of novel *L. monocytogenes* bacterial mutants, particularly the *L. monocytogenes*-GFP used in *in vitro* studies (Figure 11) and the mutant that transcribes GFP from the *actA* promoter so that it only expresses GFP when the bacteria has escaped into the cytosol of a host cell (DH-L1245; Darren Higgins, Harvard Medical School) (153).

Other studies investigating the role of ecSOD during non-infectious inflammatory lung models have shown that ecSOD protects the tissue from inflammation, a finding that we also observe in our model. However, the mechanism of protection by ecSOD in the lung appears to involve an overall decrease in the inflammatory response, including chemokine and cytokine production, which leads to decreased neutrophil recruitment to the lung (8, 13, 20, 154-156). While our data demonstrate increased neutrophil recruitment in response to ecSOD activity, this could be due to the differential production of ecSOD in the lung versus the liver, in addition to the differences attributed to a non-infectious inflammatory model compared to an infectious model. These findings could also result from the difference in regulation of inflammation between these two organs, since lung inflammation must be very tightly regulated. One study investigating the role of ecSOD during a lung *Escherichia coli* model showed ecSOD results in increased bacterial killing and decreased bacterial burden, however, this appeared to be primarily mediated by macrophage activity rather than neutrophils (157). Ultimately, the differences in the

model of inflammation or infection and the organ studied indicated that further studies would be required to elucidate the role of ecSOD activity.

The studies presented here have determined that the antioxidant enzyme, ecSOD, plays a significant role in regulating efficient neutrophil responses against L. monocytogenes. In the bone marrow, ecSOD activity leads to decreased concentrations of the chemokine CXCL12, which is important for binding to CXCR4 on neutrophils and retaining them in the bone marrow until they are fully mature. The mechanism by which ecSOD activity regulates CXCL12 concentrations remains unclear but may result from differences in G-CSF concentrations in the serum and the bone marrow. In addition, to the decreased retention signals from CXCL12/CXCR4 interactions, ecSOD activity leads to increased CXCL1 and CXCL2 concentrations in the serum. These neutrophil-attracting chemokines bind to CXCR2 on neutrophils and result in signals for neutrophils to exit the bone marrow. This combination of decreased retention factors and increased release factors leads to premature egress of immature neutrophils out of the bone marrow in ecSOD HI mice. This increase in immature neutrophils leaving the bone marrow leads to increased percentages of immature neutrophils in the blood. Furthermore, since granulopoiesis is not altered in these mice, the continuous generation of neutrophils to replace those recruited into circulation, leads to an increase in the percentage of immature neutrophils in the bone marrow.

These immature neutrophils that are now present in high percentages in the blood are recruited in large numbers into the liver, both in the presence and absence of infection, due to increased interactions with the ECM. Since ecSOD is protecting the ECM from degradation, there is more intact HA to bind CD44 and facilitate neutrophil extravasation into the liver. In

addition, increased concentrations of CXCL1 and CXCL2 in the liver of ecSOD HI mice enhance neutrophil trafficking into the liver during infection.

Unfortunately, due to the premature release of these neutrophils from the bone marrow, they are both phenotypically and functionally immature. During infection with *L. monocytogenes*, these neutrophils are recruited in large numbers into the liver but due to defects in functional ability, including impaired ROS generation and decreased TNF- α production, these neutrophils are unable to protect against the bacteria. Importantly, these defects are not a result of permanent cell-intrinsic defects in the neutrophils, but rather are a result from constant exposure to an environment with enhanced ecSOD activity. Ultimately, these studies provide insight into the relationship between antioxidants, such as ecSOD, and the immune response against pathogens. As therapies involving antioxidants, particularly ecSOD, progress it would be beneficial to account for the potential increased susceptibility to infection balanced against the protection from inflammatory damage.

REFERENCES

- 1. Carr, K. D., A. N. Sieve, M. Indramohan, T. J. Break, S. Lee, and R. E. Berg. 2011. Specific depletion reveals a novel role for neutrophil-mediated protection in the liver during *Listeria monocytogenes* infection. *Eur J Immunol* 41: 2666-2676.
- Break, T. J., S. Jun, M. Indramohan, K. D. Carr, A. N. Sieve, L. Dory, and R. E. Berg. 2012. Extracellular superoxide dismutase inhibits innate immune responses and clearance of an intracellular bacterial infection. *J Immunol* 188: 3342-3350.
- 3. Nauseef, W. M., and N. Borregaard. 2014. Neutrophils at work. *Nat Immunol* 15: 602-611.
- 4. Mehta, H. M., M. Malandra, and S. J. Corey. 2015. G-CSF and GM-CSF in Neutropenia. *J Immunol* 195: 1341-1349.
- 5. Semerad, C. L., F. Liu, A. D. Gregory, K. Stumpf, and D. C. Link. 2002. G-CSF is an essential regulator of neutrophil trafficking from the bone marrow to the blood. *Immunity* 17: 413-423.
- 6. Semerad, C. L., M. J. Christopher, F. Liu, B. Short, P. J. Simmons, I. Winkler, J. P. Levesque, J. Chappel, F. P. Ross, and D. C. Link. 2005. G-CSF potently inhibits osteoblast activity and CXCL12 mRNA expression in the bone marrow. *Blood* 106: 3020-3027.
- 7. Fattman, C. L., L. M. Schaefer, and T. D. Oury. 2003. Extracellular superoxide dismutase in biology and medicine. *Free Radic Biol Med* 35: 236-256.
- 8. Zelko, I. N., T. J. Mariani, and R. J. Folz. 2002. Superoxide dismutase multigene family: a comparison of the CuZn-SOD (SOD1), Mn-SOD (SOD2), and EC-SOD (SOD3) gene structures, evolution, and expression. *Free Radic Biol Med* 33: 337-349.
- 9. Marklund, S. L. 1982. Human copper-containing superoxide dismutase of high molecular weight. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 79: 7634-7638.
- 10. Lambeth, J. D. 2004. NOX enzymes and the biology of reactive oxygen. *Nat Rev Immunol* 4: 181-189.
- 11. Nathan, C., and A. Cunningham-Bussel. 2013. Beyond oxidative stress: an immunologist's guide to reactive oxygen species. *Nat Rev Immunol* 13: 349-361.
- 12. Kohchi, C., H. Inagawa, T. Nishizawa, and G. Soma. 2009. ROS and innate immunity. *Anticancer Res* 29: 817-821.
- 13. Yao, H., G. Arunachalam, J. W. Hwang, S. Chung, I. K. Sundar, V. L. Kinnula, J. D. Crapo, and I. Rahman. 2010. Extracellular superoxide dismutase protects against pulmonary emphysema by attenuating oxidative fragmentation of ECM. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107: 15571-15576.
- 14. Gao, F., J. R. Koenitzer, J. M. Tobolewski, D. Jiang, J. Liang, P. W. Noble, and T. D. Oury. 2008. Extracellular superoxide dismutase inhibits inflammation by preventing oxidative fragmentation of hyaluronan. *J Biol Chem* 283: 6058-6066.

- 15. Kliment, C. R., J. M. Tobolewski, M. L. Manni, R. J. Tan, J. Enghild, and T. D. Oury. 2008. Extracellular superoxide dismutase protects against matrix degradation of heparan sulfate in the lung. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 10: 261-268.
- Carlsson, L. M., J. Jonsson, T. Edlund, and S. L. Marklund. 1995. Mice lacking extracellular superoxide dismutase are more sensitive to hyperoxia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A 92: 6264-6268.
- 17. Folz, R. J., A. M. Abushamaa, and H. B. Suliman. 1999. Extracellular superoxide dismutase in the airways of transgenic mice reduces inflammation and attenuates lung toxicity following hyperoxia. *J Clin Invest* 103: 1055-1066.
- Bowler, R. P., M. Nicks, K. Warnick, and J. D. Crapo. 2002. Role of extracellular superoxide dismutase in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 282: L719-726.
- 19. Fattman, C. L., L. Y. Chang, T. A. Termin, L. Petersen, J. J. Enghild, and T. D. Oury. 2003. Enhanced bleomycin-induced pulmonary damage in mice lacking extracellular superoxide dismutase. *Free Radic Biol Med* 35: 763-771.
- 20. Jun, S., C. L. Fattman, B. J. Kim, H. Jones, and L. Dory. 2011. Allele-specific effects of ecSOD on asbestos-induced fibroproliferative lung disease in mice. *Free Radic Biol Med* 50: 1288-1296.
- 21. Bowler, R. P., B. Duda, E. D. Chan, J. J. Enghild, L. B. Ware, M. A. Matthay, and M. W. Duncan. 2004. Proteomic analysis of pulmonary edema fluid and plasma in patients with acute lung injury. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 286: L1095-1104.
- 22. Oury, T. D., L. M. Schaefer, C. L. Fattman, A. Choi, K. E. Weck, and S. C. Watkins. 2002. Depletion of pulmonary EC-SOD after exposure to hyperoxia. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 283: L777-784.
- 23. Hernandez-Saavedra, D., H. Zhou, and J. M. McCord. 2005. Anti-inflammatory properties of a chimeric recombinant superoxide dismutase: SOD2/3. *Biomed Pharmacother* 59: 204-208.
- 24. Kolaczkowska, E., and P. Kubes. 2013. Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 13: 159-175.
- 25. Manz, M. G., and S. Boettcher. 2014. Emergency granulopoiesis. *Nat Rev Immunol* 14: 302-314.
- 26. Kwak, H. J., P. Liu, B. Bajrami, Y. Xu, S. Y. Park, C. Nombela-Arrieta, S. Mondal, Y. Sun, H. Zhu, L. Chai, L. E. Silberstein, T. Cheng, and H. R. Luo. 2015. Myeloid cell-derived reactive oxygen species externally regulate the proliferation of myeloid progenitors in emergency granulopoiesis. *Immunity* 42: 159-171.
- 27. Witter, A. R., Okunnu, B.M., Berg, R.E. 2016. The essential role of neutrophils during infection with the intracellular bacterial pathogen *Listeria monocytogenes*. *The Journal of Immunology* 197.
- 28. Morrison, S. J., and D. T. Scadden. 2014. The bone marrow niche for haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature* 505: 327-334.
- 29. Pittman, K., and P. Kubes. 2013. Damage-associated molecular patterns control neutrophil recruitment. *J Innate Immun* 5: 315-323.
- 30. Delano, M. J., K. M. Kelly-Scumpia, T. C. Thayer, R. D. Winfield, P. O. Scumpia, A. G. Cuenca, P. B. Harrington, K. A. O'Malley, E. Warner, S. Gabrilovich, C. E. Mathews, D. Laface, P. G. Heyworth, R. Ramphal, R. M. Strieter, L. L. Moldawer, and P. A. Efron.

2011. Neutrophil mobilization from the bone marrow during polymicrobial sepsis is dependent on CXCL12 signaling. *J Immunol* 187: 911-918.

- 31. Kishimoto, T. K., M. A. Jutila, E. L. Berg, and E. C. Butcher. 1989. Neutrophil Mac-1 and MEL-14 adhesion proteins inversely regulated by chemotactic factors. *Science* 245: 1238-1241.
- 32. Lesley, J., R. Hyman, and P. W. Kincade. 1993. CD44 and its interaction with extracellular matrix. *Adv Immunol* 54: 271-335.
- 33. McDonald, B., E. F. McAvoy, F. Lam, V. Gill, C. de la Motte, R. C. Savani, and P. Kubes. 2008. Interaction of CD44 and hyaluronan is the dominant mechanism for neutrophil sequestration in inflamed liver sinusoids. *J Exp Med* 205: 915-927.
- 34. Alstergren, P., B. Zhu, M. Glogauer, T. W. Mak, R. P. Ellen, and J. Sodek. 2004. Polarization and directed migration of murine neutrophils is dependent on cell surface expression of CD44. *Cell Immunol* 231: 146-157.
- Khan, A. I., S. M. Kerfoot, B. Heit, L. Liu, G. Andonegui, B. Ruffell, P. Johnson, and P. Kubes. 2004. Role of CD44 and hyaluronan in neutrophil recruitment. *J Immunol* 173: 7594-7601.
- Stark, M. A., Y. Huo, T. L. Burcin, M. A. Morris, T. S. Olson, and K. Ley. 2005. Phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils regulates granulopoiesis via IL-23 and IL-17. *Immunity* 22: 285-294.
- 37. Strydom, N., and S. M. Rankin. 2013. Regulation of circulating neutrophil numbers under homeostasis and in disease. *J Innate Immun* 5: 304-314.
- Casanova-Acebes, M., C. Pitaval, L. A. Weiss, C. Nombela-Arrieta, R. Chevre, A. G. N, Y. Kunisaki, D. Zhang, N. van Rooijen, L. E. Silberstein, C. Weber, T. Nagasawa, P. S. Frenette, A. Castrillo, and A. Hidalgo. 2013. Rhythmic modulation of the hematopoietic niche through neutrophil clearance. *Cell* 153: 1025-1035.
- Scallan, E., R. M. Hoekstra, F. J. Angulo, R. V. Tauxe, M. A. Widdowson, S. L. Roy, J. L. Jones, and P. M. Griffin. 2011. Foodborne illness acquired in the United States--major pathogens. *Emerg Infect Dis* 17: 7-15.
- 40. Hardy, J., P. Chu, and C. H. Contag. 2009. Foci of *Listeria monocytogenes* persist in the bone marrow. *Dis Model Mech* 2: 39-46.
- 41. Join-Lambert, O. F., S. Ezine, A. Le Monnier, F. Jaubert, M. Okabe, P. Berche, and S. Kayal. 2005. *Listeria monocytogenes*-infected bone marrow myeloid cells promote bacterial invasion of the central nervous system. *Cell Microbiol* 7: 167-180.
- 42. Alonzo, F., 3rd, L. D. Bobo, D. J. Skiest, and N. E. Freitag. 2011. Evidence for subpopulations of *Listeria monocytogenes* with enhanced invasion of cardiac cells. *J Med Microbiol* 60: 423-434.
- 43. Pamer, E. G. 2004. Immune responses to *Listeria monocytogenes*. *Nat Rev Immunol* 4: 812-823.
- 44. Cossart, P., and M. Lecuit. 1998. Interactions of *Listeria monocytogenes* with mammalian cells during entry and actin-based movement: bacterial factors, cellular ligands and signaling. *EMBO J* 17: 3797-3806.
- 45. Czuprynski, C. J., J. F. Brown, N. Maroushek, R. D. Wagner, and H. Steinberg. 1994. Administration of anti-granulocyte mAb RB6-8C5 impairs the resistance of mice to *Listeria monocytogenes* infection. *J Immunol* 152: 1836-1846.

- 46. Conlan, J. W., and R. J. North. 1994. Neutrophils are essential for early anti-Listeria defense in the liver, but not in the spleen or peritoneal cavity, as revealed by a granulocyte-depleting monoclonal antibody. *J Exp Med* 179: 259-268.
- 47. Conlan, J. W. 1997. Critical roles of neutrophils in host defense against experimental systemic infections of mice by *Listeria monocytogenes*, Salmonella typhimurium, and Yersinia enterocolitica. *Infect Immun* 65: 630-635.
- 48. Rakhmilevich, A. L. 1995. Neutrophils are essential for resolution of primary and secondary infection with *Listeria monocytogenes*. *J Leukoc Biol* 57: 827-831.
- 49. Rogers, H. W., and E. R. Unanue. 1993. Neutrophils are involved in acute, nonspecific resistance to *Listeria monocytogenes* in mice. *Infect Immun* 61: 5090-5096.
- 50. Gregory, S. H., A. J. Sagnimeni, and E. J. Wing. 1996. Bacteria in the bloodstream are trapped in the liver and killed by immigrating neutrophils. *J Immunol* 157: 2514-2520.
- 51. Fleming, T. J., M. L. Fleming, and T. R. Malek. 1993. Selective expression of Ly-6G on myeloid lineage cells in mouse bone marrow. RB6-8C5 mAb to granulocytedifferentiation antigen (Gr-1) detects members of the Ly-6 family. *J Immunol* 151: 2399-2408.
- 52. Daley, J. M., A. A. Thomay, M. D. Connolly, J. S. Reichner, and J. E. Albina. 2008. Use of Ly6G-specific monoclonal antibody to deplete neutrophils in mice. *J Leukoc Biol* 83: 64-70.
- 53. Edelson, B. T., T. R. Bradstreet, K. Hildner, J. A. Carrero, K. E. Frederick, W. Kc, R. Belizaire, T. Aoshi, R. D. Schreiber, M. J. Miller, T. L. Murphy, E. R. Unanue, and K. M. Murphy. 2011. CD8alpha(+) dendritic cells are an obligate cellular entry point for productive infection by *Listeria monocytogenes*. *Immunity* 35: 236-248.
- 54. Shi, C., T. M. Hohl, I. Leiner, M. J. Equinda, X. Fan, and E. G. Pamer. 2011. Ly6G+ neutrophils are dispensable for defense against systemic *Listeria monocytogenes* infection. *J Immunol* 187: 5293-5298.
- 55. Lieschke, G. J., D. Grail, G. Hodgson, D. Metcalf, E. Stanley, C. Cheers, K. J. Fowler, S. Basu, Y. F. Zhan, and A. R. Dunn. 1994. Mice lacking granulocyte colony-stimulating factor have chronic neutropenia, granulocyte and macrophage progenitor cell deficiency, and impaired neutrophil mobilization. *Blood* 84: 1737-1746.
- 56. Zhan, Y., G. J. Lieschke, D. Grail, A. R. Dunn, and C. Cheers. 1998. Essential roles for granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and G-CSF in the sustained hematopoietic response of *Listeria monocytogenes*-infected mice. *Blood* 91: 863-869.
- Zhu, G., M. M. Augustine, T. Azuma, L. Luo, S. Yao, S. Anand, A. C. Rietz, J. Huang, H. Xu, A. S. Flies, S. J. Flies, K. Tamada, M. Colonna, J. M. van Deursen, and L. Chen. 2009. B7-H4-deficient mice display augmented neutrophil-mediated innate immunity. *Blood* 113: 1759-1767.
- 58. Navarini, A. A., K. S. Lang, A. Verschoor, M. Recher, A. S. Zinkernagel, V. Nizet, B. Odermatt, H. Hengartner, and R. M. Zinkernagel. 2009. Innate immune-induced depletion of bone marrow neutrophils aggravates systemic bacterial infections. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106: 7107-7112.
- 59. Gregory, S. H., L. P. Cousens, N. van Rooijen, E. A. Dopp, T. M. Carlos, and E. J. Wing. 2002. Complementary Adhesion Molecules Promote Neutrophil- Kupffer Cell Interaction and the Elimination of Bacteria Taken Up by the Liver. *The Journal of Immunology* 168: 308-315.

- 60. Pinto, A. J., D. Stewart, N. van Rooijen, and P. S. Morahan. 1991. Selective depletion of liver and splenic macrophages using liposomes encapsulating the drug dichloromethylene diphosphonate: effects on antimicrobial resistance. *J Leukoc Biol* 49: 579-586.
- 61. Seki, E., H. Tsutsui, N. M. Tsuji, N. Hayashi, K. Adachi, H. Nakano, S. Futatsugi-Yumikura, O. Takeuchi, K. Hoshino, S. Akira, J. Fujimoto, and K. Nakanishi. 2002. Critical Roles of Myeloid Differentiation Factor 88-Dependent Proinflammatory Cytokine Release in Early Phase Clearance of *Listeria monocytogenes* in Mice. *The Journal of Immunology* 169: 3863-3868.
- 62. Tripp, C. S., S. F. Wolf, and E. R. Unanue. 1993. Interleukin 12 and tumor necrosis factor alpha are costimulators of interferon gamma production by natural killer cells in severe combined immunodeficiency mice with listeriosis, and interleukin 10 is a physiologic antagonist. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90: 3725-3729.
- 63. Soudja, S. M., A. L. Ruiz, J. C. Marie, and G. Lauvau. 2012. Inflammatory monocytes activate memory CD8(+) T and innate NK lymphocytes independent of cognate antigen during microbial pathogen invasion. *Immunity* 37: 549-562.
- 64. Serbina, N. V., T. P. Salazar-Mather, C. A. Biron, W. A. Kuziel, and E. G. Pamer. 2003. TNF/iNOS-Producing Dendritic Cells Mediate Innate Immune Defense against Bacterial Infection. *Immunity* 19: 59-70.
- 65. Berg, R. E., E. Crossley, S. Murray, and J. Forman. 2003. Memory CD8+ T cells provide innate immune protection against *Listeria monocytogenes* in the absence of cognate antigen. *J Exp Med* 198: 1583-1593.
- 66. Eash, K. J., J. M. Means, D. W. White, and D. C. Link. 2009. CXCR4 is a key regulator of neutrophil release from the bone marrow under basal and stress granulopoiesis conditions. *Blood* 113: 4711-4719.
- 67. Ebe, Y., G. Hasegawa, H. Takatsuka, H. Umezu, M. Mitsuyama, M. Arakawa, N. Mukaida, and M. Naito. 1999. The role of Kupffer cells and regulation of neutrophil migration into the liver by macrophage inflammatory protein-2 in primary listeriosis in mice. *Pathol Int* 49: 519-532.
- 68. Thomas, C. J., and K. Schroder. 2013. Pattern recognition receptor function in neutrophils. *Trends Immunol* 34: 317-328.
- 69. Southgate, E. L., R. L. He, J. L. Gao, P. M. Murphy, M. Nanamori, and R. D. Ye. 2008. Identification of Formyl Peptides from *Listeria monocytogenes* and Staphylococcus aureus as Potent Chemoattractants for Mouse Neutrophils. *The Journal of Immunology* 181: 1429-1437.
- 70. Liu, M., K. Chen, T. Yoshimura, Y. Liu, W. Gong, A. Wang, J. L. Gao, P. M. Murphy, and J. M. Wang. 2012. Formylpeptide receptors are critical for rapid neutrophil mobilization in host defense against *Listeria monocytogenes*. *Sci Rep* 2: 786.
- 71. Gao, J. L., E. J. Lee, and P. M. Murphy. 1999. Impaired antibacterial host defense in mice lacking the N-formylpeptide receptor. *J Exp Med* 189: 657-662.
- 72. Czuprynski, C. J., J. F. Brown, H. Steinberg, and D. Carroll. 1998. Mice lacking the murine interleukin-8 receptor homologue demonstrate paradoxical responses to acute and chronic experimental infection with *Listeria monocytogenes*. *Microb Pathog* 24: 17-23.
- 73. Cacalano, G., J. Lee, K. Kikly, A. M. Ryan, S. Pitts-Meek, B. Hultgren, W. I. Wood, and M. W. Moore. 1994. Neutrophil and B cell expansion in mice that lack the murine IL-8 receptor homolog. *Science* 265: 682-684.

- 74. Shuster, D. E., M. E. Kehrli, Jr., and M. R. Ackermann. 1995. Neutrophilia in mice that lack the murine IL-8 receptor homolog. *Science* 269: 1590-1591.
- 75. Brzoza-Lewis, K. L., J. J. Hoth, and E. M. Hiltbold. 2012. Type I interferon signaling regulates the composition of inflammatory infiltrates upon infection with *Listeria monocytogenes*. *Cell Immunol* 273: 41-51.
- 76. Arnaout, M. A. 1990. Structure and function of the leukocyte adhesion molecules CD11/CD18. *Blood* 75: 1037-1050.
- 77. Wu, H., J. E. Prince, C. F. Brayton, C. Shah, D. Zeve, S. H. Gregory, C. W. Smith, and C. M. Ballantyne. 2003. Host Resistance of CD18 Knockout Mice against Systemic Infection with *Listeria monocytogenes*. *Infection and Immunity* 71: 5986-5993.
- 78. Miyamoto, M., M. Emoto, Y. Emoto, V. Brinkmann, I. Yoshizawa, P. Seiler, P. Aichele, E. Kita, and S. H. E. Kaufmann. 2003. Neutrophilia in LFA-1-Deficient Mice Confers Resistance to Listeriosis: Possible Contribution of Granulocyte-Colony-Stimulating Factor and IL-17. *The Journal of Immunology* 170: 5228-5234.
- 79. Rosen, H., S. Gordon, and R. J. North. 1989. Exacerbation of murine listeriosis by a monoclonal antibody specific for the type 3 complement receptor of myelomonocytic cells. Absence of monocytes at infective foci allows Listeria to multiply in nonphagocytic cells. *J Exp Med* 170: 27-37.
- Hamada, S., M. Umemura, T. Shiono, K. Tanaka, A. Yahagi, M. D. Begum, K. Oshiro, Y. Okamoto, H. Watanabe, K. Kawakami, C. Roark, W. K. Born, R. O'Brien, K. Ikuta, H. Ishikawa, S. Nakae, Y. Iwakura, T. Ohta, and G. Matsuzaki. 2008. IL-17A Produced by T Cells Plays a Critical Role in Innate Immunity against *Listeria monocytogenes* Infection in the Liver. *The Journal of Immunology* 181: 3456-3463.
- 81. Meeks, K. D., A. N. Sieve, J. K. Kolls, N. Ghilardi, and R. E. Berg. 2009. IL-23 is required for protection against systemic infection with *Listeria monocytogenes*. *J Immunol* 183: 8026-8034.
- 82. Severa, M., S. A. Islam, S. N. Waggoner, Z. Jiang, N. D. Kim, G. Ryan, E. Kurt-Jones, I. Charo, D. R. Caffrey, V. L. Boyartchuk, A. D. Luster, and K. A. Fitzgerald. 2014. The transcriptional repressor BLIMP1 curbs host defenses by suppressing expression of the chemokine CCL8. *J Immunol* 192: 2291-2304.
- 83. Czuprynski, C. J., and J. F. Brown. 1987. Purified human and recombinant murine interleukin-1 alpha induced accumulation of inflammatory peritoneal neutrophils and mononuclear phagocytes: possible contributions to antibacterial resistance. *Microb Pathog* 3: 377-386.
- 84. Czuprynski, C. J., and J. F. Brown. 1987. Recombinant murine interleukin-1 alpha enhancement of nonspecific antibacterial resistance. *Infect Immun* 55: 2061-2065.
- 85. Czuprynski, C. J., J. F. Brown, K. M. Young, A. J. Cooley, and R. S. Kurtz. 1988. Effects of murine recombinant interleukin 1 alpha on the host response to bacterial infection. *J Immunol* 140: 962-968.
- 86. Kurlander, R. J., M. Hoffman, S. S. Kratz, and J. Gates. 1989. Comparison of the effects of IL-1 alpha and TNF-alpha on phagocyte accumulation and murine antibacterial immunity. *Cell Immunol* 123: 9-22.
- 87. Havell, E. A., L. L. Moldawer, D. Helfgott, P. L. Kilian, and P. B. Sehgal. 1992. Type I IL-1 receptor blockade exacerbates murine listeriosis. *J Immunol* 148: 1486-1492.

- 88. Zheng, H., D. Fletcher, W. Kozak, M. Jiang, K. J. Hofmann, C. A. Conn, D. Soszynski, C. Grabiec, M. E. Trumbauer, A. Shaw, and et al. 1995. Resistance to fever induction and impaired acute-phase response in interleukin-1 beta-deficient mice. *Immunity* 3: 9-19.
- 89. Rogers, H. W., C. S. Tripp, R. D. Schreiber, and E. R. Unanue. 1994. Endogenous IL-1 is required for neutrophil recruitment and macrophage activation during murine listeriosis. *J Immunol* 153: 2093-2101.
- 90. Dalrymple, S. A., L. A. Lucian, R. Slattery, T. McNeil, D. M. Aud, S. Fuchino, F. Lee, and R. Murray. 1995. Interleukin-6-deficient mice are highly susceptible to *Listeria monocytogenes* infection: correlation with inefficient neutrophilia. *Infect Immun* 63: 2262-2268.
- 91. Kopf, M., H. Baumann, G. Freer, M. Freudenberg, M. Lamers, T. Kishimoto, R. Zinkernagel, H. Bluethmann, and G. Kohler. 1994. Impaired immune and acute-phase responses in interleukin-6-deficient mice. *Nature* 368: 339-342.
- 92. Hoge, J., I. Yan, N. Janner, V. Schumacher, A. Chalaris, O. M. Steinmetz, D. R. Engel, J. Scheller, S. Rose-John, and H. W. Mittrucker. 2013. IL-6 controls the innate immune response against *Listeria monocytogenes* via classical IL-6 signaling. *J Immunol* 190: 703-711.
- 93. Helmy, K. Y., K. J. Katschke, Jr., N. N. Gorgani, N. M. Kljavin, J. M. Elliott, L. Diehl, S. J. Scales, N. Ghilardi, and M. van Lookeren Campagne. 2006. CRIg: a macrophage complement receptor required for phagocytosis of circulating pathogens. *Cell* 124: 915-927.
- 94. Arnett, E., S. Vadia, C. C. Nackerman, S. Oghumu, A. R. Satoskar, K. R. McLeish, S. M. Uriarte, and S. Seveau. 2014. The pore-forming toxin listeriolysin O is degraded by neutrophil metalloproteinase-8 and fails to mediate *Listeria monocytogenes* intracellular survival in neutrophils. *J Immunol* 192: 234-244.
- 95. Zhang, H., R. A. Clemens, F. Liu, Y. Hu, Y. Baba, P. Theodore, T. Kurosaki, and C. A. Lowell. 2014. STIM1 calcium sensor is required for activation of the phagocyte oxidase during inflammation and host defense. *Blood* 123: 2238-2249.
- 96. Lee, S. C., S. A. Ju, H. N. Pack, S. K. Heo, J. H. Suh, S. M. Park, B. K. Choi, B. S. Kwon, and B. S. Kim. 2005. 4-1BB (CD137) is required for rapid clearance of *Listeria monocytogenes* infection. *Infect Immun* 73: 5144-5151.
- 97. Lee, S. C., S. A. Ju, B. H. Sung, S. K. Heo, H. R. Cho, E. A. Lee, J. D. Kim, I. H. Lee, S. M. Park, Q. T. Nguyen, J. H. Suh, and B. S. Kim. 2009. Stimulation of the molecule 4-1BB enhances host defense against *Listeria monocytogenes* infection in mice by inducing rapid infiltration and activation of neutrophils and monocytes. *Infect Immun* 77: 2168-2176.
- 98. Segal, A. W. 1989. The electron transport chain of the microbicidal oxidase of phagocytic cells and its involvement in the molecular pathology of chronic granulomatous disease. *J Clin Invest* 83: 1785-1793.
- 99. Babior, B. M. 2004. NADPH oxidase. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 16: 42-47.
- 100. Dinauer, M. C., M. B. Deck, and E. R. Unanue. 1997. Mice lacking reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase activity show increased susceptibility to early infection with *Listeria monocytogenes*. *J Immunol* 158: 5581-5583.
- 101. Shiloh, M. U., J. D. MacMicking, S. Nicholson, J. E. Brause, S. Potter, M. Marino, F. Fang, M. Dinauer, and C. Nathan. 1999. Phenotype of mice and macrophages deficient in both phagocyte oxidase and inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Immunity* 10: 29-38.

- 102. LaCourse, R., L. Ryan, and R. J. North. 2002. Expression of NADPH Oxidase-Dependent Resistance to Listeriosis in Mice Occurs during the First 6 to 12 Hours of Liver Infection. *Infection and Immunity* 70: 7179-7181.
- 103. Endres, R., A. Luz, H. Schulze, H. Neubauer, A. Futterer, S. M. Holland, H. Wagner, and K. Pfeffer. 1997. Listeriosis in p47(phox-/-) and TRp55-/- mice: protection despite absence of ROI and susceptibility despite presence of RNI. *Immunity* 7: 419-432.
- 104. Freeman, J. L., and J. D. Lambeth. 1996. NADPH oxidase activity is independent of p47phox in vitro. *J Biol Chem* 271: 22578-22582.
- 105. West, A. P., I. E. Brodsky, C. Rahner, D. K. Woo, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, M. C. Walsh, Y. Choi, G. S. Shadel, and S. Ghosh. 2011. TLR signalling augments macrophage bactericidal activity through mitochondrial ROS. *Nature* 472: 476-480.
- 106. Geng, J., X. Sun, P. Wang, S. Zhang, X. Wang, H. Wu, L. Hong, C. Xie, X. Li, H. Zhao, Q. Liu, M. Jiang, Q. Chen, J. Zhang, Y. Li, S. Song, H.-R. Wang, R. Zhou, R. L. Johnson, K.-Y. Chien, S.-C. Lin, J. Han, J. Avruch, L. Chen, and D. Zhou. 2015. Kinases Mst1 and Mst2 positively regulate phagocytic induction of reactive oxygen species and bactericidal activity. *Nature Immunology* 16: 1142-1152.
- 107. Noubade, R., K. Wong, N. Ota, S. Rutz, C. Eidenschenk, P. A. Valdez, J. Ding, I. Peng, A. Sebrell, P. Caplazi, J. DeVoss, R. H. Soriano, T. Sai, R. Lu, Z. Modrusan, J. Hackney, and W. Ouyang. 2014. NRROS negatively regulates reactive oxygen species during host defence and autoimmunity. *Nature* 509: 235-239.
- 108. Hampton, M. B., A. J. Kettle, and C. C. Winterbourn. 1996. Involvement of superoxide and myeloperoxidase in oxygen-dependent killing of Staphylococcus aureus by neutrophils. *Infect Immun* 64: 3512-3517.
- 109. Bortolussi, R., C. M. Vandenbroucke-Grauls, B. S. van Asbeck, and J. Verhoef. 1987. Relationship of bacterial growth phase to killing of *Listeria monocytogenes* by oxidative agents generated by neutrophils and enzyme systems. *Infect Immun* 55: 3197-3203.
- 110. Aratani, Y., H. Koyama, S. Nyui, K. Suzuki, F. Kura, and N. Maeda. 1999. Severe impairment in early host defense against Candida albicans in mice deficient in myeloperoxidase. *Infect Immun* 67: 1828-1836.
- 111. MacMicking, J. D., C. Nathan, G. Hom, N. Chartrain, D. S. Fletcher, M. Trumbauer, K. Stevens, Q. W. Xie, K. Sokol, N. Hutchinson, and et al. 1995. Altered responses to bacterial infection and endotoxic shock in mice lacking inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Cell* 81: 641-650.
- 112. Cole, C., S. Thomas, H. Filak, P. M. Henson, and L. L. Lenz. 2012. Nitric oxide increases susceptibility of Toll-like receptor-activated macrophages to spreading *Listeria monocytogenes*. *Immunity* 36: 807-820.
- 113. Muller, M., R. Althaus, D. Frohlich, K. Frei, and H. P. Eugster. 1999. Reduced antilisterial activity of TNF-deficient bone marrow-derived macrophages is due to impaired superoxide production. *Eur J Immunol* 29: 3089-3097.
- 114. Edelson, B. T., and E. R. Unanue. 2002. MyD88-Dependent but Toll-Like Receptor 2-Independent Innate Immunity to Listeria: No Role for Either in Macrophage Listericidal Activity. *The Journal of Immunology* 169: 3869-3875.
- Arnold-Schrauf, C., M. Dudek, A. Dielmann, L. Pace, M. Swallow, F. Kruse, A. A. Kuhl, B. Holzmann, L. Berod, and T. Sparwasser. 2014. Dendritic cells coordinate innate immunity via MyD88 signaling to control *Listeria monocytogenes* infection. *Cell Rep* 6: 698-708.

- 116. Mosa, A., C. Trumstedt, E. Eriksson, O. Soehnlein, F. Heuts, K. Janik, A. Klos, O. Dittrich-Breiholz, M. Kracht, A. Hidmark, H. Wigzell, and M. E. Rottenberg. 2009. Nonhematopoietic cells control the outcome of infection with *Listeria monocytogenes* in a nucleotide oligomerization domain 1-dependent manner. *Infect Immun* 77: 2908-2918.
- 117. Jeong, Y. J., M. J. Kang, S. J. Lee, C. H. Kim, J. C. Kim, T. H. Kim, D. J. Kim, D. Kim, G. Nunez, and J. H. Park. 2014. Nod2 and Rip2 contribute to innate immune responses in mouse neutrophils. *Immunology* 143: 269-276.
- 118. Anand, P. K., R. K. Malireddi, J. R. Lukens, P. Vogel, J. Bertin, M. Lamkanfi, and T. D. Kanneganti. 2012. NLRP6 negatively regulates innate immunity and host defence against bacterial pathogens. *Nature* 488: 389-393.
- 119. Xia, P., S. Wang, B. Ye, Y. Du, G. Huang, P. Zhu, and Z. Fan. 2015. Sox2 functions as a sequence-specific DNA sensor in neutrophils to initiate innate immunity against microbial infection. *Nat Immunol* 16: 366-375.
- 120. Lang, K. S., P. A. Lang, A. Meryk, A. A. Pandyra, L. M. Boucher, V. I. Pozdeev, M. W. Tusche, J. R. Gothert, J. Haight, A. Wakeham, A. J. You-Ten, D. R. McIlwain, K. Merches, V. Khairnar, M. Recher, G. P. Nolan, Y. Hitoshi, P. Funkner, A. A. Navarini, A. Verschoor, N. Shaabani, N. Honke, L. Z. Penn, P. S. Ohashi, D. Haussinger, K. H. Lee, and T. W. Mak. 2013. Involvement of Toso in activation of monocytes, macrophages, and granulocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 110: 2593-2598.
- 121. Harty, J. T., and M. J. Bevan. 1995. Specific immunity to *Listeria monocytogenes* in the absence of IFN gamma. *Immunity* 3: 109-117.
- Huang, S., W. Hendriks, A. Althage, S. Hemmi, H. Bluethmann, R. Kamijo, J. Vilcek, R. M. Zinkernagel, and M. Aguet. 1993. Immune response in mice that lack the interferongamma receptor. *Science* 259: 1742-1745.
- Berg, R. E., C. J. Cordes, and J. Forman. 2002. Contribution of CD8+ T cells to innate immunity: IFN-gamma secretion induced by IL-12 and IL-18. *Eur J Immunol* 32: 2807-2816.
- 124. Berg, R. E., E. Crossley, S. Murray, and J. Forman. 2005. Relative contributions of NK and CD8 T cells to IFN-gamma mediated innate immune protection against *Listeria monocytogenes*. *J Immunol* 175: 1751-1757.
- 125. Yin, J., and T. A. Ferguson. 2009. Identification of an IFN-gamma-producing neutrophil early in the response to *Listeria monocytogenes*. *J Immunol* 182: 7069-7073.
- 126. Conlan, J. W. 1997. Neutrophils and tumour necrosis factor-alpha are important for controlling early gastrointestinal stages of experimental murine listeriosis. *J Med Microbiol* 46: 239-250.
- 127. Rothe, J., W. Lesslauer, H. Lotscher, Y. Lang, P. Koebel, F. Kontgen, A. Althage, R. Zinkernagel, M. Steinmetz, and H. Bluethmann. 1993. Mice lacking the tumour necrosis factor receptor 1 are resistant to TNF-mediated toxicity but highly susceptible to infection by *Listeria monocytogenes*. *Nature* 364: 798-802.
- 128. Pasparakis, M., L. Alexopoulou, V. Episkopou, and G. Kollias. 1996. Immune and inflammatory responses in TNF alpha-deficient mice: a critical requirement for TNF alpha in the formation of primary B cell follicles, follicular dendritic cell networks and germinal centers, and in the maturation of the humoral immune response. *J Exp Med* 184: 1397-1411.
- 129. Pfeffer, K., T. Matsuyama, T. M. Kundig, A. Wakeham, K. Kishihara, A. Shahinian, K. Wiegmann, P. S. Ohashi, M. Kronke, and T. W. Mak. 1993. Mice deficient for the 55 kd

tumor necrosis factor receptor are resistant to endotoxic shock, yet succumb to L. monocytogenes infection. *Cell* 73: 457-467.

- 130. Grivennikov, S. I., A. V. Tumanov, D. J. Liepinsh, A. A. Kruglov, B. I. Marakusha, A. N. Shakhov, T. Murakami, L. N. Drutskaya, I. Forster, B. E. Clausen, L. Tessarollo, B. Ryffel, D. V. Kuprash, and S. A. Nedospasov. 2005. Distinct and nonredundant in vivo functions of TNF produced by t cells and macrophages/neutrophils: protective and deleterious effects. *Immunity* 22: 93-104.
- 131. Leist, M., F. Gantner, S. Jilg, and A. Wendel. 1995. Activation of the 55 kDa TNF receptor is necessary and sufficient for TNF-induced liver failure, hepatocyte apoptosis, and nitrite release. *J Immunol* 154: 1307-1316.
- 132. Leist, M., F. Gantner, I. Bohlinger, P. G. Germann, G. Tiegs, and A. Wendel. 1994. Murine hepatocyte apoptosis induced in vitro and in vivo by TNF-alpha requires transcriptional arrest. *J Immunol* 153: 1778-1788.
- 133. Na, K., K. E. Kim, S. T. Park, and T. Y. Kim. 2007. EC-SOD suppresses contact hypersensitivity in mouse skin by impairing Langerhans cell migration. *J Invest Dermatol* 127: 1930-1937.
- 134. Kinnula, V. L., and J. D. Crapo. 2003. Superoxide dismutases in the lung and human lung diseases. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 167: 1600-1619.
- 135. Jun, S., A. Pierce, and L. Dory. 2010. Extracellular superoxide dismutase polymorphism in mice: Allele-specific effects on phenotype. *Free Radic Biol Med* 48: 590-596.
- 136. Swamydas, M., and M. S. Lionakis. 2013. Isolation, purification and labeling of mouse bone marrow neutrophils for functional studies and adoptive transfer experiments. *J Vis Exp*: e50586.
- 137. Fiedler, K., A. Sindrilaru, G. Terszowski, E. Kokai, T. B. Feyerabend, L. Bullinger, H. R. Rodewald, and C. Brunner. 2011. Neutrophil development and function critically depend on Bruton tyrosine kinase in a mouse model of X-linked agammaglobulinemia. *Blood* 117: 1329-1339.
- 138. Nanua, S., M. Murakami, J. Xia, D. S. Grenda, J. Woloszynek, M. Strand, and D. C. Link. 2011. Activation of the unfolded protein response is associated with impaired granulopoiesis in transgenic mice expressing mutant Elane. *Blood* 117: 3539-3547.
- Van Lint, P., and C. Libert. 2007. Chemokine and cytokine processing by matrix metalloproteinases and its effect on leukocyte migration and inflammation. *J Leukoc Biol* 82: 1375-1381.
- 140. Stralin, P., and S. L. Marklund. 2000. Multiple cytokines regulate the expression of extracellular superoxide dismutase in human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Atherosclerosis* 151: 433-441.
- 141. Asagoe, K., K. Yamamoto, A. Takahashi, K. Suzuki, A. Maeda, M. Nohgawa, N. Harakawa, K. Takano, N. Mukaida, K. Matsushima, M. Okuma, and M. Sasada. 1998. Down-regulation of CXCR2 expression on human polymorphonuclear leukocytes by TNF-alpha. *J Immunol* 160: 4518-4525.
- 142. Jiang, D., J. Liang, and P. W. Noble. 2011. Hyaluronan as an immune regulator in human diseases. *Physiol Rev* 91: 221-264.
- 143. Jiang, D., J. Liang, J. Fan, S. Yu, S. Chen, Y. Luo, G. D. Prestwich, M. M. Mascarenhas, H. G. Garg, D. A. Quinn, R. J. Homer, D. R. Goldstein, R. Bucala, P. J. Lee, R. Medzhitov, and P. W. Noble. 2005. Regulation of lung injury and repair by Toll-like receptors and hyaluronan. *Nat Med* 11: 1173-1179.

- 144. Scheibner, K. A., M. A. Lutz, S. Boodoo, M. J. Fenton, J. D. Powell, and M. R. Horton. 2006. Hyaluronan fragments act as an endogenous danger signal by engaging TLR2. J Immunol 177: 1272-1281.
- 145. Lotze, M. T., and K. J. Tracey. 2005. High-mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1): nuclear weapon in the immune arsenal. *Nat Rev Immunol* 5: 331-342.
- 146. Yang, H., D. J. Antoine, U. Andersson, and K. J. Tracey. 2013. The many faces of HMGB1: molecular structure-functional activity in inflammation, apoptosis, and chemotaxis. *J Leukoc Biol* 93: 865-873.
- 147. Janko, C., M. Filipovic, L. E. Munoz, C. Schorn, G. Schett, I. Ivanovic-Burmazovic, and M. Herrmann. 2014. Redox modulation of HMGB1-related signaling. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 20: 1075-1085.
- 148. Ordonez-Rueda, D., F. Jonsson, D. A. Mancardi, W. Zhao, A. Malzac, Y. Liang, E. Bertosio, P. Grenot, V. Blanquet, S. Sabrautzki, M. H. de Angelis, S. Meresse, E. Duprez, P. Bruhns, B. Malissen, and M. Malissen. 2012. A hypomorphic mutation in the Gfi1 transcriptional repressor results in a novel form of neutropenia. *Eur J Immunol* 42: 2395-2408.
- Petit, I., M. Szyper-Kravitz, A. Nagler, M. Lahav, A. Peled, L. Habler, T. Ponomaryov, R. S. Taichman, F. Arenzana-Seisdedos, N. Fujii, J. Sandbank, D. Zipori, and T. Lapidot. 2002. G-CSF induces stem cell mobilization by decreasing bone marrow SDF-1 and upregulating CXCR4. *Nat Immunol* 3: 687-694.
- 150. Levesque, J. P., J. Hendy, Y. Takamatsu, P. J. Simmons, and L. J. Bendall. 2003. Disruption of the CXCR4/CXCL12 chemotactic interaction during hematopoietic stem cell mobilization induced by GCSF or cyclophosphamide. *J Clin Invest* 111: 187-196.
- 151. Nguyen-Jackson, H., A. D. Panopoulos, H. Zhang, H. S. Li, and S. S. Watowich. 2010. STAT3 controls the neutrophil migratory response to CXCR2 ligands by direct activation of G-CSF-induced CXCR2 expression and via modulation of CXCR2 signal transduction. *Blood* 115: 3354-3363.
- 152. Kohler, A., K. De Filippo, M. Hasenberg, C. van den Brandt, E. Nye, M. P. Hosking, T. E. Lane, L. Mann, R. M. Ransohoff, A. E. Hauser, O. Winter, B. Schraven, H. Geiger, N. Hogg, and M. Gunzer. 2011. G-CSF-mediated thrombopoietin release triggers neutrophil motility and mobilization from bone marrow via induction of Cxcr2 ligands. *Blood* 117: 4349-4357.
- 153. Westcott, M. M., C. J. Henry, A. S. Cook, K. W. Grant, and E. M. Hiltbold. 2007. Differential susceptibility of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells and macrophages to productive infection with *Listeria monocytogenes*. *Cell Microbiol* 9: 1397-1411.
- 154. Bowler, R. P., M. Nicks, K. Tran, G. Tanner, L. Y. Chang, S. K. Young, and G. S. Worthen. 2004. Extracellular superoxide dismutase attenuates lipopolysaccharideinduced neutrophilic inflammation. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 31: 432-439.
- 155. Bowler, R. P., J. Arcaroli, E. Abraham, M. Patel, L. Y. Chang, and J. D. Crapo. 2003. Evidence for extracellular superoxide dismutase as a mediator of hemorrhage-induced lung injury. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 284: L680-687.
- 156. Ghio, A. J., H. B. Suliman, J. D. Carter, A. M. Abushamaa, and R. J. Folz. 2002. Overexpression of extracellular superoxide dismutase decreases lung injury after exposure to oil fly ash. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 283: L211-218.
- 157. Manni, M. L., L. P. Tomai, C. A. Norris, L. M. Thomas, E. E. Kelley, R. D. Salter, J. D. Crapo, L. Y. Chang, S. C. Watkins, J. D. Piganelli, and T. D. Oury. 2011. Extracellular

superoxide dismutase in macrophages augments bacterial killing by promoting phagocytosis. *Am J Pathol* 178: 2752-2759.